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Goal

Hanover County understands the need for universal broadband internet access is essential for our
community. It is necessary to support business, education endeavors, public safety, and everyday
life. Therefore, we support the development and implementation of a Broadband plan to extend
the broadband network to the unserved and underserved areas of the County consistent with
goals set by the Governor’s Chief Broadband Advisor.

Speed

The preferred speeds, at a minimum, are 25Mbps / 3Mbps speeds for broadband service. This is
the industry standard for fixed broadband speed published by the Federal Communications
Commission (FCC) in the 2019 Broadband Deployment Report. It is also the minimum broadband
speed recognized by most federal and state broadband funding opportunities.
Where satellite and mobile wireless (cellular) broadband are the only option for the purposes of
this initiative they are not solely considered as sustainable broadband/internet options.

Delivery Methods

We envision a diverse network delivery consisting of fiber and fixed wireless options dependent
on existing infrastructure, geography and cost.

Cost

The most attractive proposals for broadband service will be ones that provide services at market
rate or other reasonable price points that will take into account the underserved and lower income
needs of some Hanover citizens. Consideration will also be given for customer choice and options
for various service levels.
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Introduction
Hanover has a number of unserved pockets with no reasonable broadband internet options available.
In addition, many areas are considered underserved with substandard service for our residents.
However, the majority of the residents have access to broadband internet service. This is due to the
fact that the vast majority of residents live in the suburban area with higher densities and more
commercial businesses where broadband internet is available. There are also areas within the
designated rural/agricultural portions of the County that have access. The unserved population is in
the mostly rural/agricultural areas that are generally along the borders with surrounding counties
although there are exceptions
The Growth Management Conservation and Suburban Development Plan map is below. The pink area
represents the suburban portion of the County, green is rural conservation and the white is planned to
remain agricultural.
The Virginia Broadband Availability Map of Hanover County shows the unserved areas (brown) and
underserved areas (yellow). As noted above they are generally within the rural conservation and
agricultural areas. It has generally been acknowledged that this map understates the size of the
unserved and underserved areas but that should not affect the general location.
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Virginia Broadband
Availability Map
(Hanover County)

Unserved - below or equal to 10 Mbps download and 1 Mbps upload
Underserved - greater than 10 Mbps download and 1 Mbps upload and less than 25 Mbps download
and 3 Mbps upload

Hanover is primarily served by two wired internet service providers, Comcast and CenturyLink. These
providers do not overlap even though there is no regulatory requirement that they not overlap. The
providers report it is not cost effective to make the sizable infrastructure capital investment and incur
the ongoing operating expenses in an area that already has a service provider. Furthermore,
broadband expansion grants are not available for areas that already have internet service.
Hanover partnered with Comcast in 2019 to apply for a Virginia Telecommunications Initiative (VATI)
grant, which was unfortunately unsuccessful. In 2020 Hanover partnered with CenturyLink and
Comcast to submit two VATI grant applications. As of the preparation of this report the awards had
not been announced.
Hanover also worked with two fixed wireless internet service providers (WISP) that were willing to
install the necessary equipment at no cost to the County. It was the Board of Supervisors’ policy that
tax payer funds were not to be expended on providing internet service. Unfortunately, these no-cost
providers were both unsuccessful due to being undercapitalized and lack of the business and technical
expertise necessary. The lesson learned was that the selected internet service provider partner must
be well capitalized, have a proven business model, successfully executed projects and demonstrated
ability to secure and administer broadband internet service grants.
HANOVER COUNTY BROADBAND
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Delivery Models
Board Policy Item: Options are as follow:
1. The State and/or Federal Government could define the need, develop the solution and then
implement it.
Pros, the governments are providing considerable funding and by contracting directly with the
service providers they are cutting out additional bureaucratic levels and reducing
administrative costs.
Cons, not likely to happen. Both State and Federal governments have established funding
opportunities for private broadband internet service providers such that the governments do
not need to be directly involved.
2. Private service providers independently implementing broadband solutions.

Pros, purely a private service provider effort and the provider responsible for securing grants.
Cons, private service provider not likely to independently enter into a locality without some involvement
by the local government. And, as we have experienced, private providers will expect a financial
contribution by the government.

3. Establish a Broadband Service Authority/Service District with taxing authority with authority to partner
with a service provider to implement solutions.
Pros, the service authority/Service District does not necessarily have to be countywide, it could be
limited to a specific geographic area where the broadband service will be provided with the taxes
assessed to those areas. This also reduces the involvement of the local government officials.
Cons, residents are all in or all out of the service authority/service district. If a district is created all
residents are taxed whether they have service or not.

4. Develop a local government utility like structure for delivery of broadband internet services.
Pros, the local government would be in complete control of the service.

Cons, developing a utility from the ground up is an expensive and time intensive endeavor with a large
capital investment up front. Would likely not be cost effective given the limited size.
5. Establish a public/private partnership with third party private broadband internet service providers to
encourage expansion of broadband service area. The private broadband internet service provider must
demonstrate it is well capitalized; possess sufficient resources to provide design, implementation,
operation and maintenance services; have a demonstrated record of success and have been successful
obtaining and managing State and Federal grants.
Pros, ability to leverage the expertise of the private providers while still having local government
involvement yet with less staff time. The most widely used model in Virginia.
Cons, will need a local government funding source in addition to grant funds to make applications
competitive.
HANOVER COUNTY BROADBAND
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Recommendation: Select Delivery Model 5, public/private partnership, and proceed with process to secure and
enter into the necessary agreement(s).

Strategies to Facilitate Achievement
A. Administrative Resources – Investment of Dedicated Staff Resources
• A Deputy County Administrator and the Director of Information Technology have been assigned
the responsibility to facilitate grant applications, build coalitions, foster relationships with
providers, and conduct data collection, etc. In addition, the County Administrator, the Deputy
County Administrator for Internal Services, and other County technical staff will support county
efforts to educate, encourage, and facilitate the expansion of broadband solutions to our
residents.
• The county will continue to pursue legislative
advocacy efforts with our state and federal
representatives to increase resource availability for
providers to expand broadband infrastructure.
• Work with regional partners to identify mutual needs
and benefits of collaboration.
• Work to date by County staff is summarized in Appendix 1.
Board Policy Item: Consider establishment of a new position (Director- Broadband and Technology
Development) would have expertise and knowledge of broadband internet technology, understand
FCC, be very knowledgeable on and experienced with grants, experience working with a broadband
internet service provider(s) and perform advocacy on behalf of the County.

B. Focus Efforts of Regional Workgroup

In 2017 a Regional Broadband Workgroup was formed including
Ashland, Charles City, Chesterfield, Cumberland, Fluvanna,
Goochland, Hanover, Louisa, New Kent, Powhatan, and
PlanRVA. Hanover has actively participated in the regional
meetings since the group was formed. Previous meetings have
included discussions with providers, representatives from the
Governor’s Office, Commonwealth of Virginia’s Broadband
Team, Center for Innovative Technology, and the United States
Department of Agriculture (USDA) Rural Development office.
Hanover will continue to participate on the Regional Workgroup and in addition will work directly with
adjacent localities when considering broadband deployment strategies.
HANOVER COUNTY BROADBAND
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C. Citizen & Business Resources
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Website containing plans
Updates on county progress
Improved Maps
List of providers offering service
Community Survey – broadband availability/need
Speed test opportunities for residents to share speeds of
existing service
Brochure with Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ’s)
Economic Development staff will discuss broadband
availability/needs during business visitations

D. Increased Local Access ($100,000 Investment)
Establish enhanced opportunities for citizens to access broadband internet at local access points
through expanded Hot Spots on and within public facilities and include parking lot coverage.
• Pamunkey Regional Libraries – Hanover Branches
• Parks & Recreation Community Centers
• Hanover County Public Schools
• Hanover County Fire Stations
• Hanover County Courthouse Complex
• Support Hanover County Public Schools and the Pamunkey Regional Libraries initiatives to
provide students and residents in rural unserved areas with local access via mifi hot spots.
Develop partnerships with the business community to promote
additional hot spot sites and expand internet accessibility.
• Business community partnerships to promote initiative
• Highlight business hot spot locations
• Local partnerships for expanded service

E. Commission Engineering and Implementation Plans
Board Policy Item: The County should consider partnering with one or more internet service providers
and commit funding for necessary engineering, implementation plans and support for preparing and
submitting grant and other necessary applications. The plans will define focus areas, appropriate
technology, cost estimates and time frames to accomplish expansion efforts. The benefit of the
engineering and implementation plans is they will allow the County to target the focus of
implementation consistent with goals set by the Governor’s Chief Broadband Advisor. The effort will
also provide the County with improved data and more accurate broadband availability maps to
HANOVER COUNTY BROADBAND
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facilitate provider expansion and support future funding requests. In addition, it will identify where
additional middle mile fiber installations would expand opportunities for greater citizen access to
broadband.
The agreement with the selected internet service provider partner should allow the partner to pursue
State and Federal broadband expansion grants as the grants require the involvement of an ISP, the
County cannot be the sole applicant. (See item VIII for details).
Prior to completion of a study, the County will continue to refine its mapping of the unserved and
underserved areas. The underlying data will include miles of both public and private roads, and the
number of potential connections. Maps in Appendix 2 show the unserved areas more precisely
defined by the County.

F.

Open Door – Private Providers

All providers are welcome and encouraged to expand broadband internet service to Hanover citizens.
We support and encourage private enterprise success and given that the county is not positioned to
serve as an internet service provider nor are there County, State or Federal regulation that limit the
ability of internet service providers to expand or enter into Hanover.

G.

Foster Partnerships – Focus on Providers

Hanover will focus on fostering partnerships with providers in
order to facilitate expansion of service to unserved &
underserved areas of the county. Pursuit of state grant and
funding opportunities require partnerships between local
governments and private providers. Other federal or private
funding opportunities may be more successful with similar
partnerships.

H. Leverage Federal & State Funding Opportunities
The County is generally not eligible to apply on its own for broadband grants. The grants reviewed to
date require the applicant to be an internet service provider or an internet service provider in
partnership with the local government. As such the County will work with internet service providers to
evaluate federal and state grant or loan opportunities to determine if it is in the best interest of the
county to pursue as a funding opportunity. It is important to leverage federal and state funding
opportunities, but requirements including partnerships, maps, plans, restricted service areas may
make it impossible to pursue.
HANOVER COUNTY BROADBAND
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•

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) – Broadband Planning Grant – Virginia
Department of Housing and Community Development

•

Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI) – Virginia Department of Housing and Community
Development

•

Rural eConnectivity Pilot Program (ReConnect Program) – United States Department of
Agriculture

•

Federal Rural Digital Opportunity Fund – United States Federal Communications Commission

Information for the grant programs is included in Appendix 3

I.

Infrastructure Support – Leveraging Tower Network
•

•
•

•

County allows access/lease of space on County assets such as emergency communications
towers, water tanks and other suitable facilities, and to work with providers in a manner that is
encouraging, flexible, cost effective, and values the investment of broadband providers.
County has a staff liaison for all necessary permits and approvals
for broadband infrastructure.
County understands that more than one third-party provider
may be interested and involved in the provision and expansion
of broadband services but is mindful to avoid a detrimental
effect on the service through frequency conflicts.
To the extent feasible, the County is open to assisting
broadband providers with pursuing federal or state broadband
funding opportunities to help offset the capital costs of
broadband access and capacity.

The maps provided in Appendix 4 depict the County’s communication
towers along with propagation maps for a typical fixed wireless
broadband installation.
Board Policy Item: Investigate the ability/authority of the County to establish requirements that new
developments extend existing broadband internet infrastructure and/or install new infrastructure for
new developments. Could include the inclusion of spare conduits for use by others.

HANOVER COUNTY BROADBAND
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J. Existing Infrastructure
•

•

In addition to the County’s tower resources there are a large number of other vertical assets.
The map provided in Appendix 5 depicts all of the vertical assets in Hanover.
There are a variety of existing private fiber operators in Hanover. Appendix 6 includes mapping
of the existing fiber assets. Please note the maps do not show the existing Comcast and
CenturyLink facilities.

K. Financial Incentives
Board Policy Item: Consider the investment of local resources to leverage private, State &/of Federal
funding to support the expansion of broadband internet service as follows:
•
•

The County should evaluate the potential of providing tax increment incentives to providers inpartnership with the Hanover County Economic Development Authority (EDA).
County should consider a partnership with the EDA to establish a fund to provide grants,
matches, low interest loans or other incentives to providers.

L. Legislative Advocacy
•

The county will continue to pursue legislative advocacy efforts with our state and federal
representatives to increase resource availability for providers to expand broadband
infrastructure.

Board Policy Items
1. Consider and select the most feasible preferred method of providing broadband internet
service.
2. Consider establishment of a new position (Director- Broadband and Technology Development)
would have expertise and knowledge of broadband internet technology, understand FCC, be
very knowledgeable on and experienced with grants, experience working with a broadband
internet service provider(s) and perform advocacy on behalf of the County.
3. The County should consider partnering with one or more internet service providers and commit
funding for necessary engineering, implementation plans and support for preparing and
submitting grant and other necessary applications.
4. Investigate the ability/authority of the County to establish requirements that new
developments extend existing broadband internet infrastructure and/or install new
infrastructure for new developments. Could include the inclusion of spare conduits for use by
others.
5. Consider the investment of local resources to leverage private, State &/of Federal funding to
support the expansion of broadband internet service
HANOVER COUNTY BROADBAND
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Next Steps Toward Universal Coverage
The County should continue to partner with incumbent internet service providers to apply for grants to cover
the costs to provide for the logical expansion of their existing networks into unserved and underserved areas.
As it is anticipated the incumbent providers will be unable to provide countywide coverage the County should
also proceed with the recommended delivery model. As discussed in the Delivery Models section, this model is
to establish a public/private partnership with third party private broadband internet service providers to
encourage expansion of broadband service area. The private broadband internet service provider must
demonstrate it is well capitalized; possess sufficient resources to provide design, implementation, operation and
maintenance services; have a demonstrated record of success and have been successful obtaining and
managing State and Federal grants.

HANOVER COUNTY BROADBAND
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Appendix 1 - Broadband Work to Date
Overview
 High Speed Internet Committee – 2012
 Citizens Broadband Advisory Committee – 2019
 Digital Literacy Efforts
 Wired & Wireless Internet Efforts
 Additional Activities
High Speed Internet Committee
 2012 Recommendations
 Designate point person ‐ complete
 Frank Harksen, Policy
 Kevin Nelson, Technical
 Map internet availability ‐ complete
 Federal and State initiatives
 County Developed Survey Tool
 Library internet expansion ‐ complete
 Libraries have broadband internet
 40 Mbps – 100Mbps
 Grant opportunities – complete
 Applied for 3 VATI State Grants
 Communication – complete
 Information posted on website
 Discussions with wired and wireless internet service providers – existing conditions,
opportunities, challenges
 Dominion Power Middle Mile Program
 Appointed to Rep. Wittman’s broadband task force
 Technical discussions with localities
 Special tax districts – complete
 Board did not support
 2019 Scope – effort in‐progress
 Review existing broadband availability mapping and work with service providers
 Attempt to identify inaccuracies
 Recommend a method/methods to obtain information to correct the inaccuracies
 Determine what infrastructure currently exists and how it can be leveraged to expand and
improve service
 Develop practical solutions for serving the unserved and underserved areas of the County and
prioritize these solutions
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 Prepare final report and make presentation to the Board of Supervisors
Schools
 Deployed tablets to all teachers
 Deploying tablets to 3rd‐12th grades
 Providing mifi devices to families
Pamunkey Regional Library
 Providing public wireless access
 Providing mifi devices to families
 Other services (printing, etc.)
County deploying public wireless internet access at public buildings (approximately 10 buildings)

Wired & Wireless Internet Efforts
 Wired Internet Service Providers
 Comcast 2019 Grant Application– 297 units
 CenturyLink 2020 Grant Application – 515 units
 Comcast 2020 Grant Application – 1307 units
 Segra – working with Town of Ashland
 Wireless Internet Service Providers
 Last Mile Tower Lease – 2015 (service discontinued)
 All Points Discussions – 2016 (chose to not enter market)
 SCS Broadband Tower Lease – 2017 (service never provided)
 Enhance 4G Network
 Emergency Communications coordinating with providers to co‐locate on 18 County towers
 County staff participate on Regional Broadband Workgroup
 Meetings have included discussions with providers, representatives from the Governor’s Office,
Commonwealth of Virginia’s Broadband Team, Center for Innovative Technology, and the
United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Rural Development office
 County staff participate with Commonwealth Connect Coalition
 County staff participate with Virginia Local Broadband Network (VLBN)
 County staff attended 2019 Broadband Summit
 Mapping internet service areas using citizen and provider input, and developed a broadband expansion
plan (used to support VATI application)
 Non‐monetary incentives to ISPs available:
 Permitting processes streamlined to promote tower expansion and additional tower capacity
 Assist with easement acquisition
 Assist with acquiring permits from outside agencies
 Reduced tower lease rates are available to WISPs
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All known Internet Service providers active in Central Virginia have been contacted by the County to
encourage expansion within Hanover County. The County reviews solicitations an VATI grant
applications to identify providers in the central Virginia area. Providers contacted:
 All Points Broadband
 Riverstreet Networks
 Atlantic Broadband
 Firefly
 Comcast
 Centurylink
 Segra (primarily middle mile but provides service directly to commercial and institutional
facilities)



The County met with Rappahannock Electric and Dominion to understand their interest/plan to provide
middle mile broadband service. Rappahannock is evaluating it. Dominion is actively pursuing and has
issued request for information and request for proposals from internet service providers. Dominion
selected All Points Broadband as its ISP under the pilot project as authorized by Virginia. Dominion has
expressed interest in Hanover County.



Worked with King William County on RFP to allow Hanover to utilize their selected ISP
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Appendix 2 - Hanover County Mapping

Area 1

Area 2
1 inch = 2,232 feet

Area 3
1 inch = 2,500 feet

Area 4
1 inch = 2,500 feet

Area 5

.
1 inch = 2,976 feet

FIGURE 1

Figure
1
PERCENTAGE OF HOUSEHOLDS WITH BROADBAND
ACCESS
IN VIRGINIA COUNTIES, 2015
Percentage of Households with Broadband Access in Virginia Counties, 2015

Source: Virginia’s Center for Innovative Technology

Source: Virginia’s Center for Innovative Technology
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Appendix 3 – Grant Program Summary Information

ReConnect Program: Frequently Asked Questions
General Application Inquiries
Updated April 7, 2020
Question: What is the ReConnect Program?
Answer: The ReConnect Program is a broadband pilot program that offers federal loans, grants, and
combinations thereof to facilitate broadband deployment in rural areas. ReConnect loans and grants
provide funds for the costs of construction, improvement, or acquisition of facilities and equipment needed
to provide broadband service to rural areas without sufficient broadband access, defined as 10 Mbps)
downstream and 1 Mbps upstream.
Question: What types of assistance are available in the ReConnect program?
Answer: USDA will offer loans and grants to build infrastructure and install equipment that provides
modern, reliable, high-speed Internet service in rural America. The ReConnect program offers three
products: 100% Loans, 50% Loan-50% Grant combinations, and 100% Grants. More information about
the three products can be found on the ReConnect website at reconnect.usda.gov.
Question: Is the Funding Opportunity Announcement published in 2019 different from the one
published in 2018?
Answer: Yes, there were a number of changes in the Funding Opportunity Announcement (FOA)
published on December 12, 2019. Here is a high-level summary of the changes, however, RUS
encourages you to review the FOA closely as you prepare to apply. Those changes include, but are not
limited to, the following:
•

The application window for the three categories of funding will be from January 31, 2020 through
midnight, based on the time zone the applicant is located in, on April 15, 2020.

•

Definitions have been added for healthcare and educational facilities and the name for critical
community facilities has been changed to essential community facilities.

•

For 100 percent grants, 90 percent of the proposed funded service area cannot have sufficient
access to broadband, as opposed to 100 percent under round one.

•

The requirement for two years of unqualified, comparative, audited financial statements has been
changed to unqualified, comparative, audited financial statements for the previous year from the
date the application has been submitted.

•

The requirement that applicants must submit certifications from the appropriate state or tribal
broadband office has been changed to a voluntary request.

•

Pre-application expenses that were incurred for round one, but benefit an application for round
two, may be funded up to the 5 percent of the total award in round 2.

•

Under certain conditions a subsidiary can use the unqualified, comparative, audited statements to
meet certain eligibility requirements.

•

The scoring criteria for farms has been changed. Applicants will receive 1 point for every 10 farms
served up to a maximum of 20 points. Farms will be counted using 2017 Census of Agriculture
data.

•

Tribal leaders can submit documentation supporting scoring points for the number of healthcare,
educational and essential community facilities.

•

The time period incumbent service providers will be able to challenge if sufficient service is
present in an applicant’s proposed funded service area is being increased from 30 days to 45
days.

Question: When will the online application system be live?
Answer: The RUS Online Application System opened on January 31, 2020 and closes on April 15, 2020.
Applicants will be able to access the application system at https://reconnect.usda.gov.
Question: What types of IDs do we need to access the ReConnect Application System and to file
an application?
Answer: To access the application system, Applicants will need a USDA Level II eAuthentication ID,
which can be obtained at www.eauth.usda.gov. All Online Application System users are required to have
a Level II eAuth.
Additionally, to file an application Applicants will need an Employer Identification Number (EIN),
obtainable at tax-irs-ein.com; a Dun & Bradstreet Number (DUNS Number), obtainable
at fedgov.dnb.com/webform; a current active registration in the System for Award Management (SAM),

obtainable at sam.gov/sam; and, a Commercial and Government Entity (CAGE) Code, obtainable in
SAM.
Question: How does an applicant receive Level II eAuthentication?
Answer: Applicants can receive a Level II USDA eAuthentication (eAuth) credential by going to
https://www.eauth.usda.gov/ and clicking “Register for Level 2 Account.” Applicants will use the Level II
eAuth to access the Online Application System. Every person at the applicant’s organization who needs
access to the Online Application System must have a Level II eAuth.
Question: Can applicants begin working on the application before the ARR is approved?
Answer: No, applicants cannot begin working on an application until the ARR is approved. ARR approval
takes approximately two business days.
Question: Can an applicant start an application if they do not have their SAM registration or DUNS
number yet?
Answer: It can take up to three weeks to register in SAM, get a CAGE Code (at SAM.gov) and get a
DUNS number so it is important to get these initial items started as soon as possible. While an applicant
can start an application without a DUNS number, an applicant will not be able to submit the application
without both the CAGE Code and the DUNS Number.
Question: Will consultants, including consulting engineers, have access to the online application
site for clients?
Answer: Yes, consultants may be granted access to the Online Application System by an applicant.
Once assigned the role of “Consultant” within the system, an individual consultant can access multiple
applications within the system. Please note, all individuals who log into the system must have a USDA
Level II eAuthentication credential. Additionally, Consultants must NOT enter the portal until they receive
an email indicating that the applicant has assigned them a consultant role in the system. Otherwise, these
individuals risk being locked out of the portal. If locked out of the portal, submit a Help Desk ticket through
the ReConnect website at www.usda.gov/reconnect/contact-us.
Question: How do I start my application for ReConnect funds?
Answer: Begin by reviewing the 2019 Funding Opportunity Announcement (FOA), published on
December 12, 2019 for current program and eligibility requirements. The FOA and other resources,

including program information, fact sheets, and technical assistance materials are available on the
ReConnect website at reconnect.usda.gov. All applications must be submitted through the RUS Online
Application System, which opened on January 31, 2020 and will close at midnight, based on the time
zone the applicant is located in, on April 15, 2020.
After the application window has opened, applicants can create an account in the application system by
submitting an Authorized Representative Request (ARR). Applicants cannot begin working on an
application in the system until the ARR is approved. Keep in mind, ARR approval takes approximately two
business days.
Question: My organization uses Internet Explorer and I am having problems accessing the
application system. What can I do to improve my access to the system?
Answer: Internet Explorer and Safari are not recommended browsers for using the Application System.
Applicants should use Google Chrome, Mozilla Firefox, or Microsoft Edge to successfully complete the
application.
Question: My application timed out and I lost the information entered into the system. Can USDA
recover this information?
Answer: USDA recommends saving applications at every opportunity. Some sections have a save button
on every page, but other sections can only be saved once the applicant completes the section. The
system will time out after 15 minutes, and the applicant will receive a warning message at approximately
14 minutes and 30 seconds. If an application times out without being saved, the applicant will lose all
information entered since the last save. USDA cannot recover any information lost from not saving the
application.
Question: When will USDA announce awards for the new round of funding?
Answer: Information about award announcements is not available at this time. More information about
the award announcement schedule will be available after the application window is closed and all
applications have been received. The deadline for all applications (100% loan, 50/50 loan-grant
combination and 100% grant) is midnight, based on the time zone the applicant is located in, April 15,
2020. 100% loan applications will be reviewed on a rolling basis. 50/50 loan-grant combinations will be
reviewed and evaluated competitively against other 50/50 applications. 100% grant applications will be
reviewed and evaluated competitively against other 100% grant applications.

Question: What is considered an affiliate company? What is the ownership threshold for
considering a company an affiliate?
Answer: The ReConnect legal documents provide the definition of an affiliate. Applicants should use the
definition to determine affiliate relationships. The definition is as follows: "Affiliate" or "Affiliated Company"
of any specified person or entity means any other person or entity directly or indirectly controlling of,
controlled by, under direct or indirect common control with, or related to, such specified person or entity,
or which exists for the sole purpose of providing any service to one company or exclusively to companies
which otherwise meet the definition of affiliate. This definition includes Variable Interest Entities as
described in Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (FIN) No. 46(R), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities. For the purpose of this definition, "control" means the possession directly or
indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a company,
whether such power is exercised through one or more intermediary companies, or alone, or in conjunction
with, or pursuant to an agreement with one or more other companies, and whether such power is
established through a majority or minority ownership voting of securities, common directors, officers, or
stockholders, voting trust, holding trusts (other than money exchanged) for property or services.
Question: How will USDA know where there are broadband services at 10/1 Mbps speeds
currently provided?
Answer: USDA will use several methods to verify whether a particular Proposed Funded Service Area
(PFSA) currently has 10/1 broadband service available. The Agency will post a Public Notice Filing (PNF)
of the proposed service area on the ReConnect webpage at https://reconnect.usda.gov and service
providers in those areas can submit a Public Notice Response indicating if they are already providing
10/1 Mbps. Then, USDA will conduct Service Area Validations (SAVs) for all PFSAs in an application to
verify the availability of 10/1 service and other aspects of the application. Service area validations include
some desktop research using data currently available. Additionally, USDA will send subject matter
experts (SMEs) to service area locations to conduct field tests to determine if the areas meet the eligibility
requirements.
Question: Does RUS require financial statements as part of the application?
Answer: Yes, there are three options for an applicant regarding financial statements:
1. An applicant must submit audited financial statements for the previous year from the date the
application has been submitted. For the FY2020 round, the applicant would be required to submit its 2019
audit.

2. If an applicant does not have completed audited financial statements from the previous year, than the
applicant can submit the two previous unqualified audits that have been completed. For the FY2020
round, the applicant would be required to submit its 2018 audit and 2017 audit.
3. If an applicant does not have the previous two years available and an application is submitted before
the end of April 2020, then the applicant can submit the most recent yearend audit as well as an
engagement letter with the CPA to demonstrate that the 2019 audit has been started. For the FY2020
round, the applicant would submit the 2018 audit and letter of engagement for 2019.
Please note, an applicant can use the consolidated financials of the parent as long as the parent fully
guarantees the loan, or in the case of a grant, guarantees that construction will be completed as
approved in the application or will repay the grant to RUS.
Question: Can an applicant use Fiscal Year projections when completing the financials
component of the application or must they use Calendar Year projections?
Answer: An applicant can submit their financial information using a calendar year or fiscal year basis for
historical and forecasting, but the methodology must be consistent across all years.
Question: Does the April 15th application deadline extension affect the required financial
statements?
Answer: Yes, originally RUS only allowed applicants to submit its two previous audits for 2017 and 2018
to satisfy the audit requirement if an application is submitted in the first quarter of the calendar year and
the most recent yearend audit has not been completed. However, this has been extended to include any
application submitted before April 30, 2020.
Question: Would two entities owned by the same holding company be able to submit separate
applications as separate entities proposing to serve different areas? Or is only one application
allowed because both entities are owned by the same holding company?
Answer: As long as each entity is organized as a standalone company, then each entity can submit
separate applications. However, each company must independently have the unqualified, comparative
audited financial statement for the previous calendar year from the date the application is submitted and
meet all other eligibility requirements.
Question: Can a subsidiary use a parent company’s financials?

Answer: A subsidiary may use consolidated financials of the parent company if the parent fully
guarantees the loan, or in the case of a grant, guarantees construction will be completed. The
consolidated schedules (Balance Sheets, Income Statements, and Statement of Cash Flow) must contain
enough detail, including notes to the financial statements regarding subsidiary activities, to enable USDA
to determine the creditworthiness of the subsidiary.
Question: What needs to be included for the real property question (i.e., Does the applicant own
any real property? If so, upload all applicable copies of real estate deeds or any real property
schedules). Do applicants need to upload documents for each property that they own, or can they
use a real property schedule that lists all of their real property?
Answer: The question regarding real property is intended to determine whether or not a mortgage would
be required if the project is awarded. To satisfy this requirement, applicants should upload a copy of the
company’s real estate deeds and Real Property Schedule. If however, the real estate deeds are
voluminous in size, a Real Property Schedule that lists all of the applicant's real property is satisfactory at
the time of application submission. Please note, applicants for the 100% grant product should select "no"
in response to this question.
Question: Are all CAF II – Auction 903 Winners’ Census Block Group(s) off-limits to other
applicants, regardless of the level and type of service that the CAF II Winner proposed to offer in
those areas?
Answer: Yes, for areas within the boundaries of a CAF II Census Block Group, only the CAF II Winner is
eligible to apply but the CAF II Winner may only request a 100% loan. The exception to this requirement
is if the CAF II Auction 903 area overlaps with a Protected Broadband Borrower’s service area. In this
case, the Protected Broadband Borrower is the only entity allowed to apply in that area. The CAF II
Auction 903 and Protected Broadband Borrower service areas can be found on the RUS Mapping Tool at
https://reconnect.usda.gov.
Question: Will ReConnect fund middle-mile only projects?
Answer: Stand-alone middle-mile projects are not eligible under the ReConnect Program. However,
middle-mile facilities are eligible if they are needed to bring sufficient broadband service to all premises in
the PFSA.
Question: Can an applicant apply for Community Connect and ReConnect funds for different
areas?

Answer: Yes, an applicant may apply for funds from both programs if the project serves different
broadband service areas. The PFSAs included in the application for the ReConnect Program must meet
eligibility requirements on a standalone basis.
Question: Please explain the 10/1 Mbps versus 25/3 Mbps service requirements.
Answer: To be eligible for ReConnect funding, 90% of the households within a PFSA must lack sufficient
access to broadband service. "Sufficient access" is defined as fixed, terrestrial broadband service
delivering at least 10 Mbps downstream and 1 Mbps upstream. If a proposed service area has 10/1 Mbps
or greater service available, the area is not eligible for ReConnect funding. Availability of 25/3 Mbps
service to all premises in a PFSA is the construction requirement for a ReConnect project. The project
must be capable of providing fixed, terrestrial broadband service at a speed of 25/3 Mbps to every
premise within the PFSA.
Question: Can one applicant request funding from all three funding categories?
Answer: One applicant may not request funding from all three funding categories. An applicant must
choose one type of funding (100% loan, 50/50 loan-grant combination and 100% grant)to apply for and
may only submit one application.
Question: If an applicant applies for but does not receive a 100% grant, may they then be
considered for the 50/50 combination loan-grant category?
Answer: No, an applicant is only able to submit one application.
Question: Does USDA have sample language for the Authorized Representative Request (ARR)?
To whom and to where should the ARR and Board resolution be submitted?
Answer: The ARR instructions and sample board resolution language are available on the ReConnect
website at https://reconnect.usda.gov under Forms and Resources. The instructions provide two sample
resolutions, including a corporation and LLC. If the applicant is an entity other than a corporation or LLC,
then the content of the sample resolutions can be modified to reflect the applicant’s legal structure. Once
completed, the board-approved resolution must be uploaded within the Online Application System as a
part of the Authorized Representative Request.
Question: Can an applicant use their RD Apply or eAuth login for access to ReConnect?

Answer: The ReConnect program does not use the RD Apply system. The RUS ReConnect Online
Application System can be found on the ReConnect website at https://reconnect.usda.gov. A Level II
eAuthentication (eAuth) credential is required to access the system.
Question: Are there any application fees required in the ReConnect application?
Answer: There are no application fees required to submit an application to USDA. Certain pre-application
expenses are eligible if an award is approved; however, applicants are at risk for pre-application
expenses if an award is not approved.
Question: Do applicants need to submit a legal opinion? What should be included?
Response: All applicants must submit a Legal Opinion. This document should address the applicant's
ability to enter into the award documents, describe all material pending litigation matters, address the
applicant's ability to pledge security as required by the award documents, and address the applicant's
ability to provide broadband service under state law. The legal opinion should be prepared according to
the sample format available on the ReConnect website under Forms and
Resources: https://www.usda.gov/reconnect/forms-and-resources. This sample can be modified to meet
the applicant’s needs.
Question: Why isn’t my Local Network Service Revenue table calculating?
Answer: If the Local Network Service Revenue table is not generating, it may be because there are
missing data on the Subscriber Projections table or Other Revenue table. Make sure to review each table
carefully and update any cells with missing data. Every cell must have a value. Once you have
completed the updates and saved the tables, the Local Network Services Revenue table will generate
automatically in the system.

Eligibility Inquiries
Question: Who is eligible to receive the funds?
Answer: As defined in the 2019 FOA (published on December 12, 2019), the following entities are
eligible to apply for assistance:
•

States, local governments, or any agency, subdivision, instrumentality, or political subdivision
thereof

•

A territory or possession of the United States

•

An Indian tribe (as defined in section 4 of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance
Act (25 U.S.C. 450b))

•

Non-profit entities

•

For-profit corporations

•

Limited liability companies;

•

Cooperative or mutual organizations

Individuals and legal partnerships are not eligible for ReConnect funding. In addition, co-applicants are
not eligible. If two entities would like to partner with each other in delivering broadband to areas without
sufficient access, then one entity must take the lead on submitting an application. In this case,
intercompany agreements can be used to account for revenues and expenses on the applicant’s financial
projections.
Question: I’m looking for help getting broadband internet at my residence. Is this program for me?
Answer: Individuals are not eligible for funding under this program.
Question: Is there a limit on the number of applications an entity may submit?
Answer: Yes. An entity may submit only one application. Although the online application system will allow
you to create multiple applications, you can only submit one.
Question: Is an applicant eligible if current network speeds are more than 10/1 Mbps, but less than
25/3 Mbps?
Answer: If an area has 10/1 Mbps service or greater, the Proposed Funded Service Area (PFSA) is
ineligible for ReConnect funds. 10/1 Mbps service for households is the minimum requirement to
determine if an area has sufficient access to broadband. 25/3 Mbps is the minimum construction
requirement required for all proposed projects. Applicants must propose to build a network that is
capable of providing service to every premise located in the PFSA at the time the application is submitted
at a speed of 25 Mbps downstream and 3 Mbps upstream.

Question: If an applicant is proposing to place fiber facilities through an ineligible area to get to
an area eligible area, can the fiber facilities be used to provide service to the ineligible areas?
Answer: An applicant may propose fiber placement in an ineligible area in order to reach an eligible area.
However, the applicant must fund the portion of the fiber facilities that serve the ineligible area with nonaward funds. For example, if a 100-count fiber cable is proposed to pass through ineligible and eligible
areas and 30 fibers will serve the ineligible area, then 30% of the total cost of the fiber facility (installation
and materials) must be funded through non-ReConnect funds.
Question: Is a WISP eligible for ReConnect funds?
Answer: A Wireless Internet Service Provider (WISP) would generally be considered an eligible entity, as
long as they meet all of the eligibility requirements of the program. All applicants must propose to build a
network that is capable of providing service to all premises in the PFSA at a speed of 25/3 Mbps using a
technology that provides fixed, terrestrial broadband service. Fixed wireless services are eligible and are
considered terrestrial services.
Question: What areas are eligible for ReConnect funding?
Answer: To be eligible for ReConnect Funding, a Proposed Funded Service Area (PFSA) must be (1)
rural and (2) lack sufficient access to broadband service:
1. According to the 2019 FOA, a rural area is any area which is not located within: (1) A city, town,
or incorporated area that has a population of greater than 20,000 inhabitants; or (2) an urbanized
area contiguous and adjacent to a city or town that has a population of greater than 50,000
inhabitants.
2. Sufficient access to broadband is defined in the FOA as any rural area in which households have
fixed, terrestrial broadband service delivering at least 10 Mbps downstream and 1 Mbps
upstream. Mobile and satellite services will not be considered in making the determination of
sufficient access to broadband. Note, for all funding categories, 90% of households within each
proposed service area must lack sufficient access to broadband.
In addition, a PFSA may not include areas that have been previously funded by other RUS
telecommunications programs, or areas covered by CAF II Auction 903 winners. The RUS Mapping Tool
shows all ineligible areas and the FOA has detailed information on all eligibility requirements. Ineligible
areas include:

•

Non-rural areas

•

Overlapping service areas

•

Areas where there are pending applications for USDA Rural Utilities Service programs

•

Protected Broadband Borrowers

•

CAF II Auction 903 Winners

Question: If a company applies for the 100% grant product and USDA finds one location with 10/1
service, will the entire application get thrown out or can the applicant remove that PFSA from the
application?
Answer: Multiple PFSAs will be treated as separate standalone service areas when determining how
much of a PFSA does not have sufficient access to broadband. This means that each individual PFSA
must meet the 90% eligibility requirement (90% of the households in a PFSA cannot have access to
broadband service at a speed of 10 Mbps downstream and 1 Mbps upstream). If any service area in a
competitive application does not meet the eligibility requirements, the entire application will be
disqualified. In other words, the applicant cannot modify the application to remove one or more PFSAs
that USDA finds to be ineligible.
Question: Can USDA define ineligible areas that relate to RUS lending like the RUS broadband
loan, telecommunication infrastructure loan, and RUS electric loans including smart grid funding?
Answer: For the ReConnect Program only, an RUS broadband loan means any loan that has been
approved or is currently under review by RUS after the beginning of Fiscal Year 2000 in the
Telecommunications Infrastructure Program, Farm Bill Broadband Program, Broadband Initiatives
Program or the ReConnect Program. Loans that were approved and then subsequently fully de-obligated
are not included in this definition. RUS electric loans are also not included in this definition. If a borrower’s
service area is eligible for protection under the ReConnect Program, the borrower’s entire service territory
is protected. The service areas of Community Connect grant recipients still under build-out are also
protected.
The Eligibility Area Map located on the ReConnect website at https://reconnect.usda.gov/ provides map
layers for each protected type of current RUS borrower, as well as a layer that shows tribal lands.
Additional layers show CAF II Auction 903 winners and features that contribute to evaluation criteria
scores.

Question: How can we successfully challenge FCC 477 data?
Answer: FCC 477 data is one source of information that USDA will consider in its review of applications.
However, it is not used as a sole source of information to validate 10/1 Mbps service. To challenge FCC
data, please contact the FCC.
Question: Can a competitive local exchange carrier (CLEC) apply for funding?
Answer: A CLEC is an eligible entity as long as they meet all eligibility requirements as outlined in the
FY2020 Funding Opportunity Announcement (FOA).
Question: Are legal partnerships eligible to apply for ReConnect funding?
Answer: No, legal partnerships and individuals are not eligible.
Question: Can applicants apply for more than one service area?
Answer: A single application may propose multiple service areas. For eligibility purposes, if an applicant
is applying for multiple PFSAs, each service area will be evaluated on a stand-alone basis.

Required Documents Inquiries
Question: How do I know which organizational documents I will need to submit?
Answer: The Online Application System will automatically generate the required documents based on the
legal entity type chosen. The Application Guide details the required documents for each entity type, and is
available on the ReConnect website at https://reconnect.usda.gov under Forms and Resources.
Question: For letters of support, who should they be addressed to?
Answer: Letters of support may be included in the application. If an applicant chooses to include letters of
support, they may be uploaded to the documents section within the Online Application System and
addressed to Ms. Laurel Leverrier, Acting Assistant Administrator Telecommunications Program, Rural
Utilities Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture. Please note, letters of support are not required.

Environmental Inquiries
Question: Can a previous environmental study be used in the application process if it covers 90%
of the PFSA?

Answer: An applicant must provide an environmental analysis of all proposed funded service areas
(PFSAs) within an application to be eligible. A recent environmental study could be used to satisfy or
support the environmental information requested; but additional information will be required for areas not
supported by the existing study at the time of the application. Applicants should also update any changes
since the current study, so all current environmental information is represented within the application.
Question: What will be required for the environmental portion of the application? Are maps
required of the planned routes if claiming categorical exclusions?
Answer: Project maps or site plans are required to identify cable routes, building locations, tower
locations, equipment locations, and all structures and facilities that are part of the project.
Applicants will be required to draw sites and routes using the Construction Mapping Tool in the
ReConnect Online Application System. The Application System will also require that applicants provide
specific information on the cable routes and facility locations including the completion of Environmental
Questionnaires (EQs). All project activities, specific project locations, and supporting documentation must
be provided to assist the Agency’s analysis of potential impacts on the environment, including whether a
categorical exclusion applies to an area in a proposed project.
The Application Guide addresses the specific requirements for the environmental portion of the
application.
Question: If an area is predominantly National Forest, but people live there and an applicant wants
to place a tower structure, does the applicant work with the National Forest or just the private
property owner?
Answer: If the map shows the area as Forest Service property, the applicant must work with the U.S.
Forest Service unless the applicant has proof that it is private property. The specifics of the property will
need to be analyzed and the applicant must prove that the property is private and not Forest Service
owned.
Question: Does an applicant need to contact USDA about EA or EIS before submission?
Answer: Yes. If an applicant indicates “Yes” for either the Environmental Assessment (EA) or
Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) questions on the application, the applicant must contact RUS at
reconnectenvironmental@usda.gov for further guidance. The Application System will require an upload
as proof that the applicant has contacted USDA.

Question: The Environmental section indicates that I am required to submit a Section 106
Environmental Questionnaire. How is the Application System determining that requirement?
Answer: The Application System automatically determines whether your project requires a Section 106
Environmental Questionnaire (EQ). Below are all of the Site/Route description scenarios that would
trigger a Section 106 EQ to be completed for a proposed project.
Please note that these are the system requirements. If you believe the system is requiring a Section 106
EQ in error, or have any additional questions about this issue, please submit a question through the
Contact Us form within the Application System.
Sites and/or Routes:
•

Is asset located on Tribal land – Yes, Section 106 becomes required.

•

Is asset located on or cross Federally Managed Land – Yes, Section 106 becomes required.

Routes:
•

Is the route in a previously developed, existing right-of-way? No, a new right-of-way or
easement will be required, Section 106 becomes required.

•

No matter the answer for question, "Is the route in a previously developed, existing right-of-way?",
if the installation method is either 'Aerial Cables on New Poles' or 'Underwater', Section 106
becomes required.

•

No matter the answer for question, "Is the route in a previously-developed, existing right-of-way?"
if the answer to question, "Will associated cabinets or underground vaults be installed nearby in
previously-disturbed or developed land?” is either ‘No’ or ‘Both in disturbed and undisturbed
land’, Section 106 becomes required.

Site - Building:
•

Is this an existing site or a site to be constructed? To Be Constructed

•

Will the improvements require ground disturbance? Yes

•

Is a FCC license required for any of the equipment? Yes

•

Please select the type(s) of generator(s) that will be installed: Primary generator

•

Are you collocating, upgrading, or installing a new antenna? New

•

*WHEN* What is the estimated year in which the existing tower was constructed? >49 years old

Site - Tower:
•

Is this an existing tower or a tower to be constructed? To Be Constructed

•

Is a FCC license required for this tower/pole? Yes

•

Is a FCC license required for any of the equipment? Yes

•

Please select the type(s) of generator(s) that will be installed: Primary generator

•

Are you collocating, upgrading, or installing a new antenna? New

•

*WHEN* What is the estimated year in which the existing tower was constructed? >49 years old

Site - Access Road/Parking Lot:
•

Is this an upgrade to an existing access road/parking lot, construction of a new access
road/parking lot, or expansion of a new access road/parking lot? 'Construction of a new access
road/parking lot' or ‘Expansion of a new access road/parking lot'

Site - Large Enclosure:
•

Is this an existing cabinet or a cabinet to be constructed? To Be Constructed

•

Please select the type(s) of generator(s) that will be installed: Primary generator

•

Will the improvements require ground disturbance? Yes

•

Is a FCC license required for any of the equipment? Yes

Evaluation Criteria and Scoring Inquiries
Question: Where can applicants find an explanation of application evaluation points?
Answer: The application evaluation point system is provided in the FY2020 Funding Opportunity
Announcement (FOA) that was published on December 12, 2019. The Evaluation Criteria can also be
found at https://reconnect.usda.gov under Scoring Criteria. Additional information will be provided in the
Application Guide that will be published prior to the start of accepting applications.
Question: What are the application evaluation criteria?
Answer: Applications for the 50/50 loan-grant combination and 100% grants will be scored and ranked
against the following criteria. Please consult the FY2020 FOA for details on the criteria:
●

Rurality of Proposed Funded Service Area (25 Points): Applicants receive 25 points for serving
the least dense rural areas as measured by the population of the PFSA per square mile, or if the
PFSA is located at least one hundred miles from a city or town that has a population of greater
than 50,000 inhabitants.

●

Farms Served (20 Points): Applicants receive 1 point for every 10 farms served up to a
maximum of 20 points. Farms will be counted using the GIS layer located in the RUS Mapping
Tool, which is based on the 2017 Census of Agriculture data.

●

Performance of the Offered Service (20 Points): Applicants receive 20 points for projects that
propose to build a network capable of providing at least 100 Mbps symmetrical service to all
premises. Note that the certification from the professional engineer (PE) must certify that the
proposed system can deliver these speeds to every premise in the PFSA.

●

Businesses (15 Points): Applicants receive 1 point for each business that pre-subscribes for
broadband service up to a maximum of 15 points. Applicants are required to submit signed presubscription forms to receive points for businesses.

●

Healthcare Centers (15 Points): Applicants receive 1 point for every healthcare center served for
a maximum of 15 points. Healthcare centers will be identified using the GIS layer located in the
RUS Mapping Tool.

●

Educational Facilities (15 Points): Applicants receive 1 point for every educational facility served
for a maximum of 15 points. Educational facilities will be identified using the GIS layer located in
the RUS Mapping Tool.

●

Essential Community Facilities (15 Points): Applicants receive 1 point for every essential
community facility served for a maximum of 15 points. Facilities will be identified using the GIS
layer located in the RUS Mapping Tool.

●

Opportunity Zones (5 Points): Applicants receive 5 points for an application that proposes to
provide service in at least part of an area identified as an Opportunity Zone. Opportunity Zones
will be analyzed using the GIS layer located in the Mapping Tool. This criterion is new; it was
added in the FY2020 FOA.

●

State or Tribal Broadband Activity (20 Points): Applicants receive up to 20 points for State or
tribal broadband activity, broken down as follows:
○

10 points for projects that are in a State or tribal area that has a broadband plan that has
been updated within five years of the date of publication of this FOA;

○

An additional 5 points for projects located in states that do not restrict utilities from
delivering broadband service;

○

And, 5 more points for projects located in states that expedite right-of way and
environmental requirements.

Applicants are required to submit evidence from the appropriate State or tribal official
demonstrating the above stipulations. If the project is in multiple states, an applicant must supply
supporting information for each state in the project. For projects located wholly in tribal areas, a
letter from a tribal leader may be used to claim points.

Question: How is population density (or rurality) calculated for application points?
Answer: For the purposes of the ReConnect Program, rurality is measured in one of two ways: 1) if the
population of the proposed funded service area per square mile is 6 or less, or 2) if the proposed funded
service area is located at least 100 miles from a population center (a city or town that has a population of
greater than 50,000 inhabitants). If multiple service areas are proposed, the density calculation will be
made on the combined areas as if they were a single area, and not the average densities. Please note,
areas with population densities with fewer people per square mile will receive the same number of points
as areas with 6 people per square mile. No partial points will be awarded for other densities.
Additionally, applications can only receive the score once and will not receive extra points for satisfying
both criteria described above. For the FY2020 FOA, a layer has been added to the Service Area Mapping
Tool that shows distance from population centers. The Application System will automatically calculate
rurality points.
Question: For purposes of the Reconnect Program application evaluation criteria, are ranches and
dairies considered farms or businesses?
Answer: According to the FY2020FOA, a farm is defined as any place from which $1,000 or more of
agricultural products were sold or would normally be sold during the year. A business is defined as a
commercial or mercantile activity engaged in as a means of livelihood. The ReConnect program counts
farms separately from businesses for scoring purposes.
Farms will be counted automatically by the Service Area Mapping Tool in the Application System. Farms
included in the GIS layer of the Mapping Tool are determined by the 2017 Census of Agriculture.
Applicants are no longer required to submit pre-subscription forms for farms.
Question: Do I need to have businesses complete pre-subscriber forms?
Answer: Yes, applicants will receive 1 point for each business that pre-subscribes for broadband service
up to a maximum of 15 points. Applicants must have the owner of the business sign the presubscription
form provided in the Application System and submit them as part of their application. The form can also
be found on the ReConnect website at https://reconnect.usda.gov under Forms and Resources.
Question: Essential Community Facilities, Healthcare Centers and Educational Facilities in my
area are missing from the map, how do I get these added?

Answer: There is not a challenge process for missing facilities in these datasets, and there will not be an
opportunity under this FOA to submit additional facilities for consideration. An exception to this is if the
missing facility is located on tribal land. If this is the case, an applicant can submit documentation from
the tribal leader identifying the missing facility and stating that it is currently being used for the indicated
purpose. This information is further outlined in the FY2020 FOA.
Question: Farms in my area are missing from the map, how do I get these added?
Answer: There is not a challenge process for missing farms in these datasets, and there will not be an
opportunity under this FOA to submit additional farms for consideration. There are two exceptions to this
rule:
1. If the missing farm is located on tribal land, an applicant can submit documentation from the tribal
leader identifying the missing farm; or
2. Projects located in a territory or possession of the United States can submit documentation that
supports the number of farms not identified and get the associated points.
Question: If the GIS layer in the RUS mapping tool does not adequately identify farms located on
tribal lands, can the tribal leader of the area in question submit documentation that supports
farms not identified and get the associated points?
Answer: For farms in tribal areas not identified in the GIS layer, the tribal leader of the area can submit
documentation supporting the number of farms in the PFSA and will receive 1 point for every 10 ten farms
identified in the PFSA up to a total of 20 points. A certification that the facilities exist and meet the
definition for a farm and are being used must be submitted by the tribal leader.
Question: What is an Opportunity Zone?
Answer: An opportunity zone is an economically-distressed community where new investments, under
certain conditions, may be eligible for preferential tax treatment. Localities qualify as opportunity zones if
they have been nominated for that designation by the state and that nomination has been certified by the
Secretary of the U.S. Treasury via his delegation of authority to the Internal Revenue Service.
Question: How can I ensure that my project receives the maximum points possible under the state
broadband activity section?

Answer: The following actions should be taken to ensure that the maximum possible points are derived
from the state broadband activity section:
●

To receive the 10 points under the state broadband plan, applicants will be required to submit
evidence from the appropriate State or tribal official that a broadband plan has been adopted or
recognized by the state government as the official state broadband plan, that the plan has been
updated or information has been added to the plan in the last five years from the date of the
publication of the FOA, and provides the web site (URL) where the plan is being made publicly
available.

●

To receive the additional 5 points that will be awarded to projects located in states that do not
restrict utilities, please ensure that the certification letter signed by the governor in the appropriate
state(s) confirms that there are no restrictions on utilities participating in the provision of
broadband service in the state. Documentation for this item can include examples of laws,
regulations, or similar legal documents which indicate that utilities can engage in the provision of
broadband service.

●

To receive the addition 5 points for projects located in states that expedite right-of-way and
environmental requirements, please ensure that the certification letter signed by the governor in
the appropriate state(s) confirms that there are procedures in place for expediting administrative
activities for completing right-of-way and environmental permitting requirements that can be
executed for the project if necessary, in order to meet the Agency’s project build-out timelines.
Documentation for this item can include examples of laws, regulations, procedures or other
similar documents which indicate that there are procedures in place for expediting administrative
activities for completing right-of-way and environmental permitting requirements.

Question: Are the evaluation criteria datasets available?
Answer: USDA has made the datasets that are used to determine special evaluation criteria available to
download. These datasets represent a specific moment in time and will not be modified during the course
of the current FOA, nor can the data be challenged. The Special Evaluation Criteria Datasets available for
download include: Essential Community Facilities, Educational Facilities, Healthcare Facilities, Number of
Farms by County, Opportunity Zones, and Rurality – 100 Miles from Urbanized Areas. Additionally, a
Tribal areas layer is included on the Eligible Area Map for reference. More information about the Eligibility
Area Map Datasets can be found on the ReConnect website here:
https://www.usda.gov/reconnect/eligibility-area-map-datasets.

Certifications Inquires

Question: Does it matter what type of Professional Engineer (PE) certifies the Project?
Answer: Per the FY2020 Funding Opportunity Announcement (FOA), all applicants are required to
submit a Network Design, Network Diagram, Project Costs, and Buildout Timeline and Milestones, all of
which must be certified by a PE. The PE must be licensed in at least one of the states where the project
will be constructed. The selection of the PE does not require prior RUS approval; however, it is the
responsibility of the applicant to hire PEs who are experienced in the design and construction of
broadband networks.
Question: What certifications must an applicant sign?
Answer: All applicants must sign and submit the following certifications within the Online Application
System. The only security role that can sign and certify each item is the Representative-SignatureCertifier (Rep-Sign-Cert).
Required certifications:
●

Certification Regarding Architectural Barriers

●

Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters – Primary
Covered Transactions

●

Certificate Regarding Flood Hazard Area Precautions

●

Certification Regarding Lobbying for Contracts, Grants, Loans and Cooperative Agreements

●

Civil Rights Compliance Certification

●

Federal Collection Policies for Commercial Debt Certification

●

Representations Regarding Felony Conviction (Required only for Non-profit, For-profit
corporations, and Cooperatives and Mutual Organizations)

●

Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970

●

Compliance with RUS Award Documents

Some of the certifications on this list require the applicant to answer questions or upload documents
before signing.
In addition, other parts of the application require certifications that vary according to the specifics of each
proposed project. For further guidance, please consult the FY2020 FOA available on the ReConnect
website at https://reconnect.usda.gov under Forms and Resources. The Application Guide also provides
additional details and is available on the ReConnect website.
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Ex Parte Information
• With a limited exception, attending and/or participating in
this webinar on proposed procedures to conduct the
Rural Digital Opportunity Fund Phase I auction made by
the Commission in the recent Comment Public Notice1
will not require a filing under the Commission’s rules
governing ex parte communications2
• Presentations to Commission personnel directed to the
merits or the outcome of the matters raised in the
Comment Public Notice or other pending proceedings
will require the filing of an ex parte notice
1. Comment Sought on Competitive Bidding Procedures and Certain Program Requirements for the Rural Digital
Opportunity Fund Auction (Auction 904), Public Notice, AU Docket No. 20-34, WC Docket No. 19-126, 35 FCC Rcd 2295
(2020);
2. See 47 CFR §§ 1.1200 et seq.

2

Rural Broadband Auctions Overview
• Connect America Fund Phase II Auction (completed):
 $1.48B over 10 years for fixed broadband and voice services

• Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (adopted):

 Up to $20.4B over 10 years for fixed broadband and voice services
o Phase I: up to $16B (Auction 904)
o Phase II: up to $4.4B + remainder of Phase I budget
 Phase I auction bidding expected to commence in October 2020

• 5G Fund for Rural America (proposed):

 Up to $9B for 5G service, with up to $1B for network
deployments facilitating precision agriculture
 NPRM adopted at April 23, 2020 Open Meeting

3

Task Force Overview
• Rural Broadband Auctions Task Force created to
implement rural broadband auctions
 Task Force coordinates with multiple Bureaus and Offices to
develop and implement regulatory / technical details of auctions

4

How Did We Get Here?
• 2011 USF Transformation Order

– Introduced new funding approach for price-cap areas using costmodel to identify high-cost areas and competitive bidding to allocate
support

• 2014 Connect America Cost Model (CAM)

– Estimated cost of providing service, and numbers of locations, in
census blocks nationwide
– Identified census blocks with costs above a specified benchmark

• 2015 Offer of Model-Based Support to Price
Cap Carriers

– 9 carriers accepted over $1.5 billion/year to serve 3.6M homes and
businesses in their study areas by end of 2020 in 45 states and one
territory
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CAF Phase II Auction Framework
• Reverse auction of high-cost support to census
blocks
 Included census blocks in price cap study areas where carriers
declined offers of model-based support, and certain other areas
 Excluded areas where carriers reported voice and broadband
service with speeds of ≥ 10/1 Mbps

• Census blocks were aggregated to census block
groups (CBGs) for bidding
 Each CBG had reserve price and estimated number of locations
 30,000 CBGs, 210,000 census blocks, 975,000 locations

• CAF Phase II Auction Budget: $2.15B
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CAF Phase II Auction Results Overview
• CAF Phase II Auction closed on August 21, 2018
 Approximately $1.5 billion in support awarded to provide service
to more than 700,000 locations in 45 states
 Locations assigned had initial reserve price of $5B over 10 years

• Support authorized as of April 14, 2020:
 $1.436 billion for 629,231 locations in 45 states
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Rural Digital Opportunity Fund Framework
• Up to $20.4 billion in support over 10 years
– High-cost support to serve locations in census blocks that lack
voice and broadband service with minimum speeds of 25/3 Mbps

• Two-phased auction approach
– Phase I (Auction 904): census blocks that entirely lack voice and
25/3 Mbps broadband service ($16B)
– Phase II: partially served census blocks and census blocks unsold
in Phase I auction (remainder of $20.4B)

• Multi-round, reverse clock auction format, similar
to CAF Phase II auction format
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Rural Digital Opportunity Fund Framework
• Areas eligible for support:
o All census blocks that lack voice and 25/3 Mbps broadband,
excluding:
 Census blocks with CAM costs < $40, or, for Tribal areas and blocks
that lack even 10/1 Mbps broadband, CAM costs < $30
 Census blocks awarded funding in CAF Phase II Auction
 Census blocks awarded funding through federal or state broadband
subsidy programs to provide ≥ 25/3 Mbps (e.g., USDA ReConnect)
 Rate of Return service areas, except areas the provider has indicated
it will not serve

• Preliminary Eligible Areas Public Notice (DA 20-275):
o Identified preliminary eligible areas, and
o Established a limited challenge process
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Auction 904 Preliminary Eligible Areas
• Challenge Process provided an opportunity to identify
census blocks:
o That have been served with 25/3 Mbps and voice since the
June 2019 Form 477 filing (for Form 477 filers)
o That have been awarded funding by a federal or state
broadband subsidy
 Only applies to census blocks for which a provider has an
enforceable commitment to provide ≥ 25/3 Mbps or where a formal
commitment has been executed

o Within rate-of-return carriers’ service areas where the
carrier does not expect to extend broadband as part of its
USF obligations
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Auction 904 Preliminary Eligible Areas I

https://www.fcc.gov/reports-research/maps/auction-904-preliminary-eligible-areas
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Auction 904 Preliminary Eligible Areas II
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Auction 904 Preliminary Eligible Areas III
• Interactive map and data files available for
download:
– https://www.fcc.gov/auction/904
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Auction 904 Process and Timeline
Adopt auction
procedures

Announce
eligible
areas

Short-form
applications

Auction
bidding

Announce
winning
bidders

Long-form
applications

Authorize
funding

Current timeline for Auction 904:
Summer 2020

Adoption of Auction 904 Procedures PN
Release of Eligible Areas
Short-form application window

October 2020

Commencement of auction bidding

Post-Auction

Release of Auction 904 Closing PN
Long-form application window
Funding authorized for winning bidders
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Auction 904 Bidding
• Descending clock auction
• Each bid is a commitment to provide service to an area
at a percentage of the reserve price
– Clock denominated in terms of a percentage

• Percentage decreases in each round
– To determine implied support amounts, bid percentage is
adjusted for performance tier and latency, and multiplied by the
area’s reserve price
– Each performance tier and latency combination (T+L) has an
associated adjustment weight:
– Service must meet minimum performance and latency
requirements
15

Auction 904 Service Tiers
Performance Tiers
Speed

Usage Allowance

Weight

Minimum

≥ 25/3 Mbps

≥ 250 GB or U.S. median,
whichever is higher

50

Baseline

≥ 50/5 Mbps

≥ 250 GB or U.S. median,
whichever is higher

35

≥ 100/20 Mbps

≥ 2 TB

20

≥ 1 Gbps/500 Mbps

≥ 2 TB

0

Above Baseline
Gigabit

Latency Tiers
Latency

Weight

Low Latency

≤ 100 ms

0

High Latency

≤ 750 ms & MOS ≥ 4

40
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Auction 904 Clearing & Closing
• Auction will “clear” once the aggregate bids for
support decrease to within the budget ($16B)
• Support awarded in an area to bidder with lowest
Tier + Latency weight at the “clearing round”
– If there are multiple bids for an area with the same
lowest Tier + Latency weight at the clock percentage,
bidding continues in additional rounds until there is no
competition

• Auction will close after:
– the budget clears and
– there are no areas with competing bids
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Auction 904 Service Obligations
• Winners must deploy service to the number of locations
won, on a statewide basis:
–
–
–
–
–
–

20% of CAM locations by year two (optional)
40% of CAM locations by year three
Additional 20% in each subsequent year
100% of CAM locations by year six
100% of actual locations by year eight
Newly built locations upon reasonable request after actual
locations determined and before year eight

• Mandatory reporting on progress
• Rates charged must be reasonably comparable to rates
for similar services in urban areas
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Auction 904 / CAF Phase II Comparison
• Two-step auction application process largely the same
• Per-location funding threshold is lower than CAF Phase II:
$40 vs. $52.50
 Tribal areas and areas lacking 10/1 Mbps service subject to lower funding
threshold of $30

• Per-location support cap is higher than CAF Phase II:
$212.50 vs. $146.10
 Tribal areas and areas lacking 10/1 Mbps service subject to higher support cap of
$222.50

• In the clearing round, for bids at the same percentage,
support will be awarded to the bidder with lowest Tier +
Latency weight
 However, bidding will continue (like in CAF Phase II) if 2+ bidders have the same
lowest weight
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Participating in Auction 904
• Interested parties should prepare now to complete their
short-form applications
– Application window will open in summer 2020
• Process for participating in Auction 904 is similar to
process for Auction 903 (CAF-II)
• Parties that are interested in participating in the auction
should familiarize themselves with FCC resources from
Auction 903 to prepare to apply for Auction 904
• Auction 903 resources are available here:
– https://www.fcc.gov/auction/903
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Auction 903 Resources
• Additional information about completing the short-form
application can be found at the following Auction 903
links:
– Instructions for filing the short-form application
– Auction 903 application tutorial (video)
– Checklist of information needed to complete the shortform application
– Auction 903 application process workshop
21

Applying for Auction 904
• All parties that wish to participate in Auction 904 must
submit the short-form application by the deadline
– Late applications will not be accepted
• Submitting the short-form application does not obligate an
entity to bid in the auction
• To complete the short-form application, parties must
submit:
– Financial information
– Ownership information
– Technical information
– Information detailing previous provision of
telecommunications services, if applicable
22

Auction 904 - Financial Information
•

Required financial information includes:
– Financial statements
• If operated for at least two years: one year of audited financial
statements (if not audited in the ordinary course of business,
may submit unaudited, but must submit audited in long-form
application if announced as a winning bidder)
• All other applicants: three years of audited financial statements
• Must indicate if audited financial statements have a clean audit
opinion letter
– If the applicant or its parent company has provided only an electric
transmission or distribution service for at least two years, it must
submit Qualified operating or financial reports for the past 2
years
– If the applicant has not been operating for at least two years, it
must submit a Letter of interest from a qualified bank
23

Auction 904 - Technical Information
•

Required technical information includes:
– Each state, performance tier (speed and usage), and latency
for which the applicant wants to bid, and the technology that
would be used to provide service at that tier and latency
– If the applicant plans to use wireless technology, it must submit
information on spectrum bands and bandwidth to which the
applicant has access
– Answers to questions listed in Appendix A of the Auction 904
Procedures Public Notice (to be adopted)
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Auction 904 - Ownership Information
• Required ownership information includes:
– Applicant’s name and legal classification
– Individuals who can communicate with Commission staff and
place bids on behalf of the applicant
– All parties, including non-applicants, with whom the applicant has
entered into any agreements regarding the applicant’s
participation in the auction
– The individuals and entities with an ownership interest,
whether direct or indirect, in the applicant and FCC-regulated
businesses in which the applicant has a direct interest
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Auction 904 – Add’l Required Information
• Additional required information includes:
– List of study area codes, if the applicant is already an eligible
telecommunications carrier (ETC) (proposed)
– List of FRNs used to file FCC Form 477 data during the past two
years, as applicable (proposed)
– Filer ID used to file FCC Form 499-A in the past year, if the
applicant files Form 499-A (proposed)
– Required certifications
•

Further requirements and specifications as adopted in the Auction
904 Procedures PN
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Forming a Consortium
• Interested parties may form a consortium, which is an
entity made up of multiple parties that participates in the
auction as one bidder
• Short-form application
– Consortium must choose one lead entity to certify how long it has
been operating and submit its financial statements
– All other information (e.g., ownership, responses to Appendix A
questions, spectrum) must be submitted for each member of the
consortium; provide roadmap to explain

• A consortium bids as its own, single entity, and then may
divide winning bids among its members after the auction
concludes
• If you have specific questions about forming a consortium,
please email your questions to auction904@fcc.gov
27

Prohibited Communications
• All auction applicants must follow the Commission’s
prohibited communications rule (section 1.21002)
• An auction applicant is prohibited from communicating
with any other applicant in any manner the substance of
its own, or one another’s, or any competing applicant’s
bids or bidding strategies
– Applies to applicants starting at application deadline whether they qualify or bid
– “Applicant” includes entity submitting an application, any party with control of the
entity, any party controlled by the applicant entity or controlled by a party
controlling the applicant entity
– Take care with communications to third parties that may be conduits

• If you have any questions about the prohibited
communications rules, please send questions to
auction904@fcc.gov
28

Additional Resources
• Auction 904
– Website: https://www.fcc.gov/auction/904
– Email:
auction904@fcc.gov

• Rural Broadband Auctions Task Force
– Website: https://www.fcc.gov/auctions/ruralbroadbandauctions
– Email:
ruralbroadband@fcc.gov

• FCC Office of Intergovernmental Affairs
– Greg Cooke, Chief: gregory.cooke@fcc.gov

• FCC Office of Communications Business
Opportunities (small business concerns)
– Sanford S. Williams, Director: sanford.williams@fcc.gov
29

Questions and Contact
Questions?
Auction 904 questions should be sent to
auction904@fcc.gov
Please email any additional questions
to ruralbroadband@fcc.gov
30
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Background
The issue of rural telecommunications is not only one of technology; it is essential infrastructure
for modern community and economic development. Many rural communities in Virginia
evolved around industry sectors that have dramatically declined—rail, textile, manufacturing,
and resource extraction to name a few. Broadband availability promotes sustainability and
growth of communities by providing access to health care, particularly through the introduction
of telemedicine, which improves the local workforce, provides increased educational
opportunities through distance learning, and encourages an entrepreneurial economy where new
and existing home-based and small businesses are able to compete globally.
Rural communities continue to struggle to retain existing businesses due to slow, sporadic, or
limited broadband services. Since the vast majority of businesses rely on the internet to perform
business functions such as online banking, e-commerce transactions (i.e. sales and online
payment processing), market development (i.e. online ads, websites, bulk-email, etc.), customer
service through online chat or emails and internal/external communication, broadband
connectivity is vital to the performance of businesses of all sizes. Broadband has gone from
being a luxury to a full participation necessity in the twenty-first century economy.
Additional guidance and questions regarding project development or about the VATI, guidelines
and criteria should be directed to:
Tamarah Holmes, Ph.D., Broadband Office Director
Tamarah.holmes@dhcd.virginia.gov
(804) 371-7056
Tammy L. Breski, Telecommunication and Broadband Project Manager
tammy.breski@dhcd.virginia.gov
(804) 371-7067
Caroline Luxhoj, PMP, Telecommunication and Broadband Project Manager
caroline.luxhoj@dhcd.virginia.gov
(804) 773-1792
VATI email address
vati@dhcd.virginia.gov

Please refer questions regarding your application submittal through CAMS to Tammy L. Breski
or Caroline Luxhoj.
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Summary of Proposed Changes to the 2021 VATI Guidelines and Criteria

Unserved Areas
To better align with the federal definition of unserved, VATI unserved areas are defined as
having broadband speeds at or below 25 Megabits per second (Mbps) download and 3 Megabits
(Mbps) upload. Applicants are encouraged to prioritize areas lacking 10 Megabits per second
download and 1 Megabits per second upload speeds, as they will receive significant priority in
application scoring.
Universal Coverage
Broadband universal service, or coverage, is referred to as ensuring all citizens have access to the
internet. It is DHCD’s goal that all VATI projects submitted are helping achieve universal
coverage. DHCD encourages applicants to ensure all projects fit into a larger plan to achieve
universal broadband for the locality or region. DHCD recognizes that due to the nature of
wireless projects having an inherent potential of overlap it is strongly encouraged that
applicants contact DHCD staff for assistance. Applicants are discouraged from submitting
projects that focus on pockets of density while not including nearby unserved, less dense areas.
Project Financing
Consistent with VATI’s enabling budget language (Item 114L of the 2020 Appropriations Act);
the private co-applicant must contribute a cash match to the total project cost. If the private coapplicant match is below 10% of total project cost, applicants must provide financial details
demonstrating appropriate private investment in relation to the density and scope of the project.
VATI Notice of Application
Changed the public notice requirement to a VATI Notice of Application. All applicants are
required to issue a VATI Notice of Application detailing their intent to apply for VATI and
submit to DHCD for posting on the VATI webpage. The sample notice is provided by DHCD.
Challenge Process
Evidence of serviceability must be demonstrated by showing a reasonable number of customers
within the area of claimed serviceable units.
The following requirements have been added to the VATI challenge process:
Planned service to a proposed project area is eligible for the purpose of a challenge if
state or federal funds have been awarded and the provider has committed to providing
service to the project areas using these state or federal funds.
● Areas adjacent to state or federally funded areas may be eligible for a challenge if the
challenger demonstrates existing awards would cover the adjacent area The challenger
must commit to serving the adjacent areas at speeds equal to or greater than the VATI
deployment speed.
●
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A challenger must use the project area map submitted by the applicant to create a map
indicating where the challenger’s serviceable units are located in the proposed project
area. Challengers are encouraged to submit additional maps and information if necessary.
● A challenger that has been awarded state or federal funding must provide documentation
detailing commitment to provide service in or adjacent to the proposed project area.
●

Implementation Deadline
●
●

Changed the project completion timeline from 12 months to 18 months.
DHCD will consider longer project timelines for larger project areas if applicants can
sufficiently detail the reasoning for the extended timeline in their application. Projects
that experience delays outside of the control of the applicant will also be eligible for
extension at the discretion of DHCD staff.

Organizational and Management Capabilities
Private co-applicants that have not submitted a FCC Form 477 in previous years must provide
additional documentation. Applicants must provide a detailed reason for not submitting, and
information on business background including, but not limited to, number of customers,
overview of assets, or equivalent information.
Evaluation Criteria
Based on the feedback during the debriefings from the 2020 VATI round, DHCD is sharing the
application evaluation criteria for 2021.
Category

2020 Points

2021 Points

Demonstrated Need

100

120

Project Readiness

50

60

Budget and Cost Appropriateness

40

70

Commonwealth Priorities

15

50

Total

205

300

New evaluation criteria include the following:
●
●
●
●

Moved marketing from Demonstrated Need category to Project Readiness category.
Added digital literacy efforts under Project Readiness category.
Changed locality assistance to ‘leverage’ under Project Readiness category.
Provided specific guidance on the Commonwealth Priorities category.
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Program Description
Administered by the Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD),
the Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI) enhances the sustainability and growth of
communities throughout the Commonwealth by preparing those communities to build, utilize,
and capitalize on telecommunications infrastructure. Consistent with the enabling budget
language, DHCD will award up to $19,000,000 in Fiscal Year (FY) 2021 to eligible applicants to
provide last-mile services to unserved areas of the Commonwealth. This budget is subject to
amendment, up or down, during a forthcoming special session of the Virginia General Assembly.
A portion of the VATI funds is authorized to be used for administrative support of the program.
DHCD reserves the right to award any amount to eligible grantees, depending entirely on the
quality and quantity of applications received. Please note VATI funding is contingent upon final
approval of the 2020-2022 biennial budget by the General Assembly and may be subject to
change.
The primary objective of VATI is to provide financial assistance to supplement construction
costs by private sector broadband service providers, in partnership with local units of
government, to extend service to areas that presently are unserved by any broadband provider.

Freedom of Information Act (FOIA)
DHCD has the legal authority with the following information contained in a public record and is
exempt from the mandatory disclosure provisions of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act
(FOIA): “information related to a grant application, or accompanying a grant application,
submitted to the Department of Housing and Community Development that would (i) reveal (a)
trade secrets, (b) financial information of a grant applicant that is not a public body, including
balance sheets and financial statements, that are not generally available to the public through
regulatory disclosure or otherwise, or (c) research-related information produced or collected by
the applicant in the conduct of or as a result of study or research on medical, rehabilitative,
scientific, technical, technological, or scholarly issues, when such information has not been
publicly released, published, copyrighted, or patented, and (ii) be harmful to the competitive
position of the applicant.” Applicants wishing to receive FOIA exemption must submit a written
request to DHCD and follow the FOIA policy, found on page 13.

Eligible Applicants
Applications must be submitted by a unit of government (Towns, Cities, Counties, Economic
Development Authorities/Industrial Development Authorities, Broadband/Wireless Authorities,
Planning District Commissions, School Divisions, etc.) with a private sector broadband provider
as a co-applicant. Eligible projects must be owned and operated by the private sector coapplicant. Publicly owned networks are eligible for the program when partnered with a private
sector co-applicant, so long as the private sector applicant is serving as the customer-facing
internet service provider.
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Selection Process
Awardees will be selected through a competitive application process. Application questions will
be focused on the applicant’s broadband needs as well as information related to ready-to-construct
project(s) needing financial assistance to supplement construction costs. The applicant must
demonstrate a readiness to proceed with an awarded project in a timely manner by the required
deadline.
Any modifications made to an awarded project will be subject to the VATI challenge process
detailed on page 9 if a new project area has been added.

Technical Assistance
DHCD staff is available to provide technical assistance on the development of an application and
during the challenge process to units of local government, internet service providers, grant writers,
consultants, and all other VATI stakeholders. Please reach out to DHCD staff and consult the
broadband toolkit available at www.commonwealthconnect.virginia.gov/broadband-toolkit prior
to engaging a private consultant. DHCD staff strongly recommends engagement of technical
assistance throughout project development.

Universal Coverage
Governor Northam has set a goal for universal broadband coverage throughout the Commonwealth
by 2028. To that end, DHCD encourages applicants to ensure all projects either achieve, or are
part of, a plan to achieve universal broadband for the locality or region. Localities can find
resources for developing a universal broadband plan on the Commonwealth Connect website at
www.commonwealthconnect.virginia.gov/broadband-toolkit. DHCD recognizes that due to the
nature of wireless projects having an inherent potential of overlap it is strongly encouraged that
applicants contact DHCD staff for assistance. Applicants are discouraged from submitting
projects that focus on pockets of density while not including nearby unserved, less dense areas.
This tactic, also known as cherry picking, hurts the economics of serving the remaining areas in
your community and will ultimately make it more difficult and costly to get all Virginians access
to broadband coverage.

Eligible Areas
DHCD will award funding to applicants to provide last-mile services, including middle-mile
networks, equipment, or other investments required to deliver last-mile service to unserved areas
of the Commonwealth. Unserved areas are defined as having broadband speeds at or below 25
Megabits per second (Mbps) download and 3 Megabits (Mbps) upload. Areas lacking 10
Megabits per second download and 1 Megabits per second upload speeds will be given
significant priority in application scoring. In addition, a proposed project area is considered
eligible if 10 percent or fewer of serviceable units have access to service with no additional
special construction costs from any provider as of the date of the application. Applicants are
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discouraged from overbuilding served areas in proposed projects, as this will lower applicants’
evaluation scores and may make projects ineligible for VATI funding.

Federal Funding
Applicants must do their due diligence to determine if their proposed VATI project area has in
whole or in part been awarded federal broadband funds. These programs include, but are not
limited to, Connect America Funds II (CAFII), ACAM, ReConnect and Community
Connect. Projects with federal funds will be re-scoped to remove these area(s) from the
project. In the event the VATI co-applicant has been awarded federal broadband funds, they
cannot use those funds as match. However, they are encouraged to leverage their federal award
and apply for VATI funding to extend service to areas beyond those that were awarded federal
funds.
On March 17, 2020, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) announced eligible census
blocks for the Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (RDOF). VATI applicants are encouraged to
review the Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (RDOF) eligible census blocks and plan their VATI
application accordingly. For VATI co-applicants planning to apply/bid for the same project area
for both programs, you must detail your RDOF plans in the VATI application. In instances
where RDOF census blocks have been awarded in VATI proposed project areas, RDOF funds
will supersede VATI and the project must be re-scoped. If 50% or more of the proposed VATI
project passings are included in awarded RDOF census blocks, the VATI application will be
removed from further consideration.
Contact DHCD staff for all questions regarding federal funds during project development.

Multiple Applications
An applicant may submit one application with multiple service providers if the applicant can
demonstrate how the providers are collaborating to achieve universal coverage for the locality or
region. Service providers may submit an application with more than one unit of local
government. Units of local government may submit multiple applications with different service
providers and may include project areas that cross-jurisdictional boundaries.
An applicant may include non-contiguous service areas in a single application. If designating
more than one service area in a single application, each service area must be clearly delineated,
and the required data and budget information must be provided by each service area.

Project Financing
VATI funding shall not exceed 80 percent of the total project cost. Applicants should note that
the program is competitive however, and that those projects that bring greater match to the
application are more likely to receive higher evaluations scores.
Consistent with VATI’s enabling budget language, the private co-applicant must contribute cash
match to the total project cost. If the private co-applicant match is below 10% of total project
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cost, applicants must provide financial details in their applications demonstrating appropriate
private investment in relation to the density and scope of the project.

VATI Notice of Application
All applicants are required to issue a VATI Notice of Application detailing their intent to apply
for VATI funding no later than Monday, July 13, 2020, at 5:00 p.m. Applicants must submit a
copy of the VATI Notice of Application to DHCD at: vati@dhcd.virginia.gov. The sample
notice is located in Appendix A. VATI Notice of Applications will be posted on DHCD’s VATI
webpage no later than Friday, July 17, 2020.

Challenge Process
Prospective challengers are strongly encouraged to contact applicants directly and discuss the
contested project area before submitting a challenge as project areas can often be re-scoped to
remove overlap. Evidence of serviceability must be demonstrated by showing a reasonable
number of customers within the area of claimed serviceable units.
Planned service to a proposed project area is eligible for the purpose of a challenge if state or
federal funds have been awarded and the provider has committed to providing service to the
areas using these state or federal funds. Areas adjacent to state or federally funded areas may be
eligible for a challenge if the challenger demonstrates existing awards will cover the adjacent
area. The challenger must commit to serving the adjacent areas at speeds equal to or greater than
the VATI deployment speed.
DHCD will post electronic copies of all submitted applications to the agency website within five
business days after the August 17, 2020 application deadline. Providers wishing to submit a
challenge must provide the information required in this section no later than 5:00 p.m. on
September 23, 2020. Applicants will be notified if their proposed project area is being
challenged and will have 15 business days from notification of a challenge to provide rebuttal
information to DHCD.
Providers wishing to submit challenges on multiple applications must submit a separate
challenge for each application. Challenges can be made to portions of a proposed project area
without invalidating the entire project. DHCD reserves the right to invalidate a portion(s) of a
proposed project area, aggregate challenges by different providers to determine percentage of
serviceable units served in a proposed project area, and invalidate insufficient challenges.
Challengers must demonstrate that more than 10% of serviceable units in the project area have
access to speeds above 25/3 mbps as of the date of the application or that the application is
ineligible as a result of committed state or federal funding subject to the conditions described
above.
DHCD must receive all of the information detailed below or the challenge will be deemed
incomplete and invalid. Challengers must provide:
1. A signed and notarized affidavit affirming the challenge and attached information is true.
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2. Current Federal Communications Commission (FCC) Form 477 or equivalent.
3. Minimum/maximum speeds available in the proposed project area.
4. Number of serviceable units within the proposed project area. Provide the speeds those
serviceable units are able to receive.
5. Street level data of customers receiving service within the proposed project area.
6. Using the project area map submitted by the applicant, create a map indicating where the
challenger’s serviceable units are located in the proposed project area. Challengers are
encouraged to submit additional maps and information if necessary.
7. If challenging due to planned state or federal funding, documentation detailing
commitment to provide service in or adjacent to the proposed project area.
DHCD will review all applicable challenge and rebuttal information to determine if a challenge
is credible. DHCD reserves the right to request verified speed tests on all or portion(s) of the
challenged area. DHCD reserves the right to re-scope any credibly challenged VATI application
and fund portion(s) of a credibly challenged application. The Department shall notify the
applicant and challenger in writing if a challenge is credible no later than 5:00pm on November
9, 2020.

Implementation Deadline
Applicants must demonstrate that projects will be completed within 18 months. The project
timeline begins with the contract execution between the applicant and DHCD. DHCD will
consider longer project timelines for larger project areas if applicants can sufficiently detail the
reasoning for an extended timeline in their application. Applicants are encouraged to phase larger
scale projects, and DHCD reserves the right to fund only a phase(s) of a project. Extensions are
available for awarded projects that encounter delays due to circumstances outside of the
applicants’ control. Contact DHCD staff for all questions regarding project scope.

Organizational and Management Capabilities
To participate in VATI, applicants and co-applicants must demonstrate suitable organizational
and management capabilities. To determine whether applicants meet this criterion, applicants
and private sector partner(s), must submit the following documents and/or attest to each of the
following:
1. Documentation that proposed project area is unserved based on VATI criteria.
2. Private co-applicant must provide proof that they have filed an FCC Form 477 for two
years prior to submission of application. If private co-applicant has not submitted an FCC
Form 477 in previous years, the co-applicant must provide reasoning for not submitting,
business background, number of customers, overview of assets, or equivalent
information.
3. Projects must be fully-financed through a combination of the total requested VATI funds,
committed matching funds from the applicants, and in-kind resources.
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4. Private co-applicants must document current assets (i.e. total amount of available cash
and equivalents, callable capital, in an amount no less than the proposed committed
funding or a commitment letter for financing) in the amount of match funds committed
for the project at the time of application. Per VATI’s enabling budget language, the
private co-applicant must contribute an appropriate level of match to the total project
cost.
5. Applicants must be in good standing in performance of any and all existing
Commonwealth of Virginia contracts and in compliance with all federal, state, and local
laws.

Proposal Due Date
Proposals are to be submitted by 11:59 p.m. on August 17, 2020. Please note that DHCD
offices close at 5:00 p.m. Therefore, staff will not be available to provide CAMS technical
assistance after 5:00 p.m.
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Evaluation Criteria
Project Description and Need (Maximum of 120 points)
Describe the fundamentals of the project, including:
● Overview of the project area and how it was determined
● Amount of overlap from existing providers and how it was determined
● Number of serviceable units passed and the breakdown of those passings
● Internet speeds to be offered
● Network design
Project Readiness (Maximum of 60 points)
Describe the capacity to successfully implement the project, including:
● Breakdown of matching funds and in-kind resources
● Additional leverage to improve the project
● Marketing activities, including digital literacy efforts, to ensure a sufficient take rate
● Description of the project management plan, including key contacts, projected
timeline, and history of managing similar projects/grants
Project Budget and Cost-Appropriateness (Maximum of 70 points)
Describe the project budget, including:
● Detailed project budget, including derivation of costs and documentation of cost
estimates, delineated by each service area
● Information to calculate the Cost Benefit Index score
Commonwealth Priorities (Maximum of 50 points)
Describe how the project would reflect priorities of the Commonwealth, including:
● How the project fits into a larger plan for universal broadband coverage
● Passings of significant impact
● Unique partnerships involved in the project
● Digital equity efforts
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Application Questions
Project Description and Need (120 points)
1. Describe why and how the project area(s) was selected. Describe the proposed
geographic area including specific boundaries of the project area (e.g. street names, local
and regional boundaries, etc.). Attach a copy of the map of your project area(s). Label
map: Attachment 1 – Project Area Map.
2. List existing providers in the proposed project area and the speeds offered. Please do not
include satellite. Describe your outreach efforts to identify existing providers and how
this information was compiled with source(s).
3. Describe if any areas near the project have received funding from federal grant programs,
including but not limited to Connect America Funds II (CAF II), ACAM, ReConnect, and
Community Connect. If there have been federal funds awarded near the project, provide a
map verifying the proposed project area does not conflict with these areas. Describe if
there are Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (RDOF) eligible census blocks located in the
proposed project area, and if the private co-applicant plans on submitting a bid for these
RDOF eligible areas. Label Map: Attachment 2 – Documentation on Federal Funding
Area.
4. Overlap: To be eligible for VATI, applicants must demonstrate that the proposed project
area(s) is unserved. An unserved area is defined as an area with speeds of 25/3 mbps or
less and with less than 10% service overlap within the project area. Describe any
anticipated service overlap with current providers within the project area. Provide a
detailed explanation as to how you determined the percentage overlap. Label Attachment:
Attachment 3 – Documentation Unserved Area VATI Criteria. (up to 15 points)
5. Total Passings: Provide the number of total serviceable units in the project area.
Applicants are encouraged to prioritize areas lacking 10 Megabits per second download
and 1 Megabits per second upload speeds, as they will receive priority in application
scoring. For projects with more than one service area, each service area must have
delineated passing information. Label Attachment: Attachment 4 – Passings Form
a. Of the total number of passings, provide the number of residential, business, non-

residential, and community anchors in the proposed project area. Describe the
methodology used for these projections. (up to 55 points total; up to 35 points
for overall passings, up to 10 points for businesses, up to 10 points for
community anchor institutions)
b. Provide the number of serviceable units in the project area that have 10/1 mbps or
less. Describe the methodology used for these projections. (up to 20 points)
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6. For wireless projects only: Please explain the ownership of the proposed wireless
infrastructure. Please describe if the private co-applicant will own or lease the radio mast,
tower, or other vertical structure onto which the wireless infrastructure will be installed.
7. Speeds: Describe the internet service offerings, including download and upload speeds, to
be provided after completion of the proposed project. Detail whether that speed is based
on dedicated or shared bandwidth, and detail the technology that will be used. This
description can be illustrated by a map or schematic diagram, as appropriate. List the
private co-applicant’s tiered price structure for all speed offerings in the proposed project
area, including the lowest tiered speed offering at or above 25/3 mbps. (up to 30 points)
8. Network Design: Provide a description of the network system design used to deliver
broadband service from the network’s primary internet point(s) of presence to end users,
including the network components that already exist and the ones that would be added by
the proposed project. Provide a detailed explanation of how this information was
determined with sources. If using a technology with shared bandwidth, describe how the
equipment will handle capacity during peak intervals. For wireless projects, provide a
propagation map for the proposed project area with a clearly defined legend for scale of
map. Label Map: Attachment 5 – Propagation Map Wireless Project.
Project Readiness (60 points)
9. Describe the current state of project development, including but not limited to: planning,
preliminary engineering, identifying easements/permits, status of MOU or MOA, and
final design. Prepare a detailed project timeline or construction schedule, identifying
specific tasks, staff, contractor(s) responsible, collection of data, etc., and estimated start
and completion dates. Applicants must include Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs)
or Memorandums of Agreement (MOAs) between applicants (drafts are allowable).
Label Attachments: Attachment 6 – Timeline/Project Management Plan; Attachment 7 –
MOU/MOA between Applicant/Co-Applicant; (up to 15 points)
10. Matching funds: Complete the funding sources table indicating the cash match and inkind resources from the applicant, co-applicant, and any other partners investing in the
proposed project (VATI funding cannot exceed 80 percent of total project cost). In-kind
resources include, but are not limited to: grant management, acquisition of rights of way
or easements, waiving permit fees, force account labor, etc. If the private co-applicant
cash match is below 10% of total project cost, applicants must provide financial details
demonstrating appropriate private investment. Label Attachments: Attachment 8 Funding Sources Table; Attachment 9 – Documentation of Match Funding; (up to 20
points)
11. Leverage: Describe any leverage being provided by the applicant, co-applicant, and
partner(s) in support of the proposed project. (up to 10 points)
12. Marketing: Describe the broadband adoption plan.
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a. Explain how you plan to promote customer take rate, including marketing

activities, outreach plan, and other actions to reach the identified serviceable units
within the project area. Provide the anticipated take rate and describe the basis for
the estimate. (up to 10 points)

b. Describe any digital literacy efforts to ensure residents and businesses in the

proposed project area sufficiently utilize broadband. Please list any partnering
organizations for digital literacy, such as the local library or cooperative extension
office. (up to 5 points)

13. Project Management: Identify key individuals who will be responsible for the
management of the project and provide a brief description of their role and
responsibilities for the project. Present this information in table format. Provide a brief
description of the applicant and co-applicant’s history and experience with managing
grants and constructing broadband communication facilities. Please attach any letters of
support from stakeholders. If applicant is not a locality(s) in which the project will occur,
please provide a letter of support from that locality. Attachment 10 – Letters of Support.

Project Budget and Cost Appropriateness (70 points)
14. Budget: Applicants must provide a detailed budget that outlines how the grant funds will
be utilized, including an itemization of equipment, construction costs, and a justification
of proposed expenses. If designating more than one service area in a single application,
each service area must have delineated budget information. For wireless projects, please
include delineated budget information by each tower. Expenses should be substantiated
by clear cost estimates. Include copies of vendor quotes or documented cost estimates
supporting the proposed budget. Label Attachments: Attachment 11 – Derivation of
Costs; Attachment 12 - Documentation of Supporting Cost Estimates. (up to 10 points)
15. The cost benefit index is comprised of three factors: (i) state share for the total project
cost, (ii) state cost per unit passed, and (iii) the internet speed. From these statistics,
individual cost benefit scores are calculated and averaged together to create a point scale
for a composite score. Provide the following:
a. Total VATI funding request
b. Number of serviceable units
c. Highest residential speed available in proposed project area
i. (up to 60 points)
Commonwealth Priorities (50 points)
16. Additional points will be awarded to proposed projects that reflect Commonwealth
priorities. If applicable, describe the following:
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a. How the proposed project fits into a larger plan to achieve universal broadband

coverage for the locality. Explain the remaining areas of need in the locality and a
brief description of the plan to achieve universal broadband coverage.
b. Businesses, community anchors, or other passings in the proposed project area
that will have a significant impact on the locality or region because of access to
broadband.
c. Unique partnerships involved in the proposed project. Examples include electric
utilities, universities, and federal/state agencies.
d. Digital equity efforts to ensure low to moderate income households in the
proposed project area will have affordable access to speeds at or above 25/3
mbps.
Additional Information
17. Provide any other information that the applicant desires to include. Applicants are
limited to four additional attachments.
Label Additional Attachments as:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Attachment 13 – Two most recent Form 477 submitted to the FCC or equivalent
Attachment 14 – XXXXXXX
Attachment 15 – XXXXXXX
Attachment 16 – XXXXXXX
Attachment 17 – XXXXXXX
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List of Required Attachments
*All Attachments MUST be uploaded in PDF format
1. Map(s) of project area, including proposed infrastructure
2. Documentation of Federal Funding (CAF/ACAM/USDA, etc…) in and/or near proposed
project area.
3. Documentation that proposed project area is unserved based on VATI criteria
4. Passings Form (Please use template provided)
5. Propagation Map if Wireless Project
6. Timeline/Project Management Plan
7. MOU/MOA between applicant/co-applicant (can be in draft form)
8. Funding Sources Table
9. Documentation for match funding
10. Letters of Support
11. Derivation of Cost (Project Budget)
12. Documentation supporting project costs (e.g. vendor quotes)
13. Two most recent Form 477 submitted to FCC
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Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI)
Freedom of Information (FOIA) Policy
Effective July 1, 2019
§ 2.2-3705.6:
(32) Information related to a grant application, or accompanying a grant application, submitted to the Department
of Housing and Community Development that would (i) reveal (a) trade secrets, (b) financial information of a grant
applicant that is not a public body, including balance sheets and financial statements, that are not generally
available to the public through regulatory disclosure or otherwise, or (c) research-related information produced or
collected by the applicant in the conduct of or as a result of study or research on medical, rehabilitative, scientific,
technical, technological, or scholarly issues, when such information has not been publicly released, published,
copyrighted, or patented, and (ii) be harmful to the competitive position of the applicant. The exclusion provided by
this subdivision shall only apply to grants administered by the Department, the Director of the Department, or
pursuant to § 36-139, Article 26 (§ 2.2-2484 et seq.) of Chapter 24, or the Virginia Telecommunication Initiative as
authorized by the appropriations act.
In order for the information submitted by the applicant and specified in this subdivision to be excluded from the
provisions of this chapter, the applicant shall make a written request to the Department:
a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from disclosure is
sought;
b. Identifying with specificity the data, information, or other materials for which protection is sought; and
c. Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.
The Department shall determine whether the requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary to protect the trade
secrets or confidential proprietary information of the applicant. The Department shall make a written
determination of the nature and scope of the protection to be afforded by it under this subdivision.
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Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI)
Freedom of Information (FOIA) Policy
All entities requesting Freedom of Information (FOIA) exemption for information pertaining to the VATI
program shall submit the request for exemption in writing detailing the documentation to
vati@dhcd.virginia.gov. DHCD FOIA exemptions do not extend to local government co-applicants. Only
materials submitted to DHCD directly are subject to consideration for a FOIA-exemption. Pursuant to 2.23705.6-32, the Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD) will make a written
determination within ten (10) days of the request as to whether FOIA-exemption will be afforded as well
as the nature and scope of the protection. Upon receipt of the written determination from DHCD
documents must be submitted to vati@dhcd.virginia.gov. All exempted information will be securely
maintained and accessed by VATI staff only.
Grant Applications
Consistent with VATI Guidelines, DHCD will continue to make available online submitted VATI
applications. DHCD respects the right of the public to access to public information about the VATI
program and encourages applicants to only request a FOIA-exemption when absolutely necessary.
Applications submitted through CAMS must only include information that is open to the public.
Applicants may request to submit supplementary information to the application that includes a FOIAexemption, pursuant to “§ 2.2-3705.6” for information related to a grant application that may make the
application more competitive. FOIA-exemption requests must be sent directly to
vati@dchd.virginia.gov, and the applicant must indicate for which VATI application the information
corresponds. Applicants wishing to submit multiple FOIA exemption requests for multiple VATI
applications must do so individually in separate requests.
In order for the information submitted by the applicant and specified in this subdivision to be excluded from the
provisions of this chapter, the applicant shall make a written request to the Department:
a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from disclosure is
sought;
b. Identifying with specificity the data, information, or other materials for which protection is sought; and
c. Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.
The Department shall determine whether the requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary to protect the trade
secrets or confidential proprietary information of the applicant. The Department shall make a written
determination of the nature and scope of the protection to be afforded by it under this subdivision.

Challenge Applications
Prospective challengers are strongly encouraged to contact applicants directly and discuss the contested
project area before submitting a challenge. Many issues can be resolved without a formal challenge
process.
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Entities wishing to request FOIA exemption on information related to a VATI application challenge must
submit any requested information directly to vati@dhcd.virginia.gov. Incumbents with information such
as existing street level data in a proposed project area are required to submit a challenge. Challengers
wishing to request exemption for multiple challenges must do so individually, in separate requests.
Applicants who have received a challenge will be notified and may request FOIA exemption, pursuant to
“§ 2.2-3705.6,” for information pertaining to their rebuttal.
In order for the information submitted by the applicant and specified in this subdivision to be excluded from the
provisions of this chapter, the applicant shall make a written request to the Department:
a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from disclosure is
sought;
b. Identifying with specificity the data, information, or other materials for which protection is sought; and
c. Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.
The Department shall determine whether the requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary to protect the trade
secrets or confidential proprietary information of the applicant. The Department shall make a written
determination of the nature and scope of the protection to be afforded by it under this subdivision.

Grant Monitoring
Projects awarded VATI funds currently work with DHCD to monitor the completion and success of those
projects. Entities wishing to request FOIA exemption on information relevant to evaluating the success
of awarded projects, including take rate, must submit any requested information directly to
vati@dhcd.virginia.gov

In order for the information submitted by the applicant and specified in this subdivision to be excluded from the
provisions of this chapter, the applicant shall make a written request to the Department:
a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission of the data or other materials for which protection from disclosure is
sought;
b. Identifying with specificity the data, information, or other materials for which protection is sought; and
c. Stating the reasons why protection is necessary.
The Department shall determine whether the requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary to protect the trade
secrets or confidential proprietary information of the applicant. The Department shall make a written
determination of the nature and scope of the protection to be afforded by it under this subdivision.
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Definitions
Business – An organization or entity that provides goods or services in order to generate profit.
Businesses based in residential homes can count if they are a registered business (BPOL, LLC,
etc.).
Community Anchor - schools, libraries, medical and health care providers, public safety
entities, community colleges and other institutions of higher education, and other community
support organizations and agencies that provide outreach, access, equipment, and support
services to facilitate greater use of broadband service by vulnerable populations, including lowincome, unemployed, and the aged.
Digital Subscriber Line (DSL) – A technology for bringing high-bandwidth information to
homes and small businesses over ordinary copper telephone lines.
Eligible Project Costs – Expenses eligible for reimbursement under the VATI grant.
Fiber-to-the-Home (FTTH) – A network that delivers internet service over optical fiber directly
to an end-user home, business, or other Unit.
Fixed Wireless – Wireless devices or systems that are situated in fixed locations.
Hybrid Fiber Coaxial (HFC) – A broadband network combining optical fiber and coaxial
cable.
Last-Mile – Components of a network that provide broadband service to end-user premises or
devices through an intermediate point of aggregation (e.g. remote terminal, fiber node, wireless
tower, or other equivalent access point).
Leverage-Non-match cash or non-match in-kind resources committed to a proposed project that
do not qualify as match (i.e. federally funded projects like CAFII, A-CAM, etc.) or being used as
match (i.e. volunteer labor, engineering or design, etc.).
Middle-Mile – Network components that provide broadband service from one or more
centralized facilities (e.g. the central office, the cable head-end, the wireless switching station, or
other equivalent centralized facilities) to an Internet point of presence.
Non-Residential Passing – Places of worship, federal, state, or local facilities or other potential
customers that are neither a residence, business, or a community anchor institution (as defined
above).
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Passing – any structure that can receive service.
Peak Interval - Weekdays from 7:00 p.m. – 11:00 p.m. local time.
Service Area – Refers to the geographic territory in which an applicant has proposed to provide
service.
Serviceable Units – Properties that are eligible for broadband service without additional special
construction costs from the property owner/subscriber.
Street Level Data – Address ranges or specific addresses from an existing provider along with
the existing number of customers within those ranges. No personal information on specific
customers will be requested.
Unserved – Properties that currently have access to internet speeds at or below 25 Megabits per
second (Mbps) download and 3 Megabits (Mbps) upload.
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Appendix A-Sample VATI Application Notice
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2021 Virginia Telecommunication Initiative

SAMPLE VATI APPLICATION NOTICE FORMAT
[Insert Date]
Tamarah Holmes, Ph.D
Director
Office of Broadband
Department of Housing and Community Development
600 East Main Street, Ste 300
Richmond, VA 23219
Dear Dr. Holmes:
I am providing this VATI Application Notice to notify the Virginia Department of Housing
and Community Development of [insert name of unit of local government] and [private
provider (optional)]’s may submit an application for the FY2021 Virginia Telecommunication
Initiative (VATI).
[Name of unit of local government, organization] and [private provider (optional)] intends
to submit an application for [summary description of Project to be funded] within
approximately [proposed Project Area(s)].
[Name] will be our main point of contact for the purposes of the application process, and can be
reached at:
[Mailing Address]
[Phone Number]
[Email Address]
[Name of applicant government, organization and[ private provider (optional)] understands
that this VATI Application Notice is required in order to submit an application for the 2021
the Virginia Telecommunication Initiative and that this notice is not binding on the entity
represented by the undersigned, Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development.
[Type the closing]
_________________________________
[signature]
Type the sender’s name]
[Type the sender’s title]
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Secretary of Commerce and Trade

To:
Delivered Via:
From:
Subject:

County and City Elected Officials
Chief Executive Officer, Manager, or Administrator
Evan Feinman
Chief Broadband Advisor
Opportunity for Localities to Apply for CARES Act Funding to Fast Track
Broadband

Overview:
The Administration has additional federal Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF) available pursuant to the
federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act). The Governor seeks to apply
CRF funds to projects that will address the need to increase broadband connectivity for distance
learning and telework as a result of the public health emergency.
The Governor’s Chief Broadband Advisor will accept proposals from localities with projects that can be
deployed to address broadband connectivity issues during the public health emergency. These
proposals will need to be developed and submitted quickly, and projects will be approved on a
rolling basis until funds are fully obligated. Further, all applicants must certify that all expenses
related to these projects will be expended and in-service by December 25th of 2020. Proposals will be
evaluated for readiness to deploy in the time period stated and for their connection to increasing
broadband connectivity for distance learning and telework to address the needs during the public
health emergency. If these funds become available and the proposal is accepted, your locality will be
notified if all or a portion of the proposed project will be awarded funds. Awarded funds will be added
to the localities CRF allocation by the Department of Accounts.
This program is unrelated to other broadband support programs offered by the Commonwealth.
Localities are encouraged to creatively partner with other public and private partners to respond to this
need during the public health emergency digital – whether residents lack access to broadband
connectivity as a result of inadequate infrastructure, or as a result of residents’ inability to pay for
broadband service – and submit projects that can be completed in the provided timeline.
Examples of project proposals that will be considered include, but are not limited to the below list.
Neither the list below nor approval of a CRF allocation by the Governor’s Chief Broadband
Advisor represents any assurance, legal or otherwise, that the approved project complies with
all federal guidelines related to the use of these funds. Localities are strongly encouraged to
consult their legal counsel prior to applying for and expending federal CRF funds. Localities
1

must justify projects with the need to expand connectivity for distance learning and telework
needs necessary during the public health emergency.
1.

Broadband infrastructure capable of delivering a minimum of 25Mbs/3Mbs to Virginians
with broadband connectivity challenges.

2.

Broadband service connection costs for passings or property with high cost for individual
connections, no greater than $10,000 per connection. Examples of such connections are for
passings with long driveways, on a private road, or that have costs associated with a rail or
highway crossing.

3.

Cellular transmission equipment for project areas that include residential units without or
with limited cell service.

Projects not on this list that also expand connectivity for distance learning and telework needs
necessary during the public health emergency will also be considered.
The Chief Broadband Advisor’s office will contact awardees on a rolling basis after projects are
submitted, in recognition of the short timeframe on which these projects will need to be constructed.

Guidance:
It is extremely important to know that all of the same conditions that existed for the first and second
round of CRF allocations to localities continue for this round of allocations. To that end, please refer to
Secretary Layne’s July 28th, 2020, memorandum and to the federal guidance and frequently asked
questions:
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-TerritorialLocal-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Frequently-AskedQuestions.pdf
This information is routinely updated, so guidance may have changed since you last consulted it.
Compliance with the federal guidance is the responsibility of the locality submitting the proposal and
failure to do so could result in disallowed expenses requiring you to repay the associated funds to the
federal government. As stated previously, if the locality fails to repay any funds spent for nonqualifying
expenses as required by the federal government, the state Comptroller will recover such amounts from
future state payments to your locality via the State Aid Intercept Program.
In addition to the revised federal guidance, on September 2, 2020, the U.S. Treasury’s Office of the
Inspector General issued information related to reporting and audit requirements. Information
regarding the audit and reporting requirements can be found at the same link provided above. Further,
the State Comptroller’s office has sub-recipient monitoring responsibilities that will necessitate
evaluation and additional correspondence with localities regarding the use of funds.
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As a reminder, the overarching federal guidance states that these funds must be used for qualifying
expenses of state and local governments. Specifically, the CARES Act provides that payments from the
CRF only may be used to cover costs that:
1.
2.
3.

are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to the
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID–19);
were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 (the date
of enactment of the CARES Act) for the State or government; and
were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30,
2020.

The federal guidance continues to state that the CRF funds can be used only for the direct costs
associated with the response to the COVID-19 pandemic and cannot be used to address revenue
shortfalls. CRF funds should be considered "one time" monies and should not be used for ongoing
services and/or base operations. Because the funds must be expended by December 30, localities are
advised not to create services with expenses beyond that period. Any expenses beyond December 30,
2020, must be paid entirely by the locality from local funds or their partners.

Requirements: Application and Certification
Each applicant, in order to be considered for funding, must:
1.

complete an application, located on page 7.

2.

complete a certification form (Appendix C) from the locality signed by the chief executive
officer, the chief financial officer (Treasurer), and the chief elected officer.

Before signing the certification, applicants are recommended to read and understand the federal
guidance and the frequently asked questions contained in Appendices A and B, respectively. The most
recent information on this guidance and the frequently asked questions can be obtained at:
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-TerritorialLocal-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
and
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Frequently-AskedQuestions.pdf
Please note that the certification statement includes an acknowledgment that applicants may not
receive reimbursement or applicants may be required to return funds to the federal government if it is
determined that those funds were spent for purposes that do not qualify. It is important for applicants
to understand that the burden of ensuring that all CRF funds are spent for qualifying purposes falls to
the local government.

3

Awardees are responsible for maintaining all necessary documentation to ensure compliance with the
federal requirements. The State Comptroller is responsible for all sub-recipient monitoring and may
require additional information in the future from each locality to address that responsibility.
If the federal government determines that awardees have used CRF funds for purposes that do not
qualify, awardees must return those funds to the state promptly so that they may be returned to the
federal government. As a condition of receiving CRF funds, awardees agree that the Commonwealth can
use state aid intercept to recover any funds necessary for expenses that were not for a qualifying
purpose or that were unexpended as of December 30, 2020.

Submission of Application and Certification
The Commonwealth has prepared a general application for use of these special CRF funds, which can be
found on page 7. Applications will be accepted immediately and will be approved and reviewed on a
rolling basis to allow awarded projects to begin construction or implementation. Applications will be
accepted until all funds are committed.
All application materials, including the complete application, the signed certification, and other
supporting project information can be submitted by email to Commonwealthconnect@governor.virginia.gov
If you have any questions regarding the appropriate use of CRF funds, please refer to the U.S. Treasury
Website and guidance. For questions about this process or technical questions about the certification
form or the distribution of the funds, please send an email to Commonwealthconnect@governor.virginia.gov
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Requirements: Application and Certification
General
Each applicant locality, in order to be considered for funding, must:
3.

complete and submit an application form located on page 7; and

4.

submit a certification form (Appendix C) from the locality signed by the chief executive
officer, the chief financial officer (Treasurer), and the chief elected officer.

Before signing the certification, I recommend that you read and understand the federal guidance and
the frequently asked questions contained in Appendices A and B, respectively. The most recent
information on this guidance and the frequently asked questions can be obtained at:
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-TerritorialLocal-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
and
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Frequently-AskedQuestions.pdf
Please note that the certification statement includes an acknowledgment that applicants may not
receive reimbursement or applicants may be required to return funds to the federal government if it is
determined that those funds were spent for purposes that do not qualify. It is important for applicants
to understand that the burden of ensuring that all CRF funds are spent for qualifying purposes falls to
the local government.
Awardees are responsible for maintaining all necessary documentation to ensure compliance with the
federal requirements. The State Comptroller is responsible for all subrecipient monitoring and may
require additional information in the future from each locality to address that responsibility.
If the federal government determines that awardees have used CRF funds for purposes that do not
qualify, awardees must return those funds to the state promptly so that they may be returned to the
federal government. As a condition of receiving CRF funds, awardees agree that the Commonwealth can
use state aid intercept to recover any funds necessary for expenses that were not for a qualifying
purpose or that were unexpended as of December 30, 2020.
Completion of Application
The Commonwealth has prepared a general application for use of these special CRF funds, which can be
found here on page 7.
Applications will be accepted starting on Monday, October 12, 2020, so that we quickly approve
projects on a rolling basis and allow projects to begin construction or implementation. Applications will
be accepted until all funds are committed.
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Submission of Certification
The certification in Appendix C contains more specific details on the responsibilities of the local
governing body. A fillable .pdf Certification form is available in Appendix C.
The signed certification form should be submitted concurrent with the application, starting on Monday,
October 12th, 2020, to the Chief Broadband Advisor by email to:
Commonwealthconnect@governor.virginia.gov
If you have any questions regarding the appropriate use of CRF funds, please refer to the U.S. Treasury
Website and guidance. For questions about this process or technical questions about the certification
form or the distribution of the funds, please send an email to:
Commonwealthconnect@governor.virginia.gov
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Application for CARES Act Funding to Fast Track Broadband
Applicant Information:
1.
2.
3.
4.

City/County of:
Completed by:
Primary Point of Contact:
Date:

Project Information:
1. Type of project seeking funding: [broadband infrastructure/broadband affordability/middle
mile infrastructure/education/telehealth/other]
2. Number of households to be served:
3. Maximum Deployment Speed(s) available, including package tier offerings :
4. Total Project cost:
5. Match funding or in-kind resources
6. Project partners or subcontractors (if known):
7. Projected project completion date:
Project Narrative:
1. What problem does this project seek to solve:
2. Describe how your broadband project will facilitate distance learning, telehealth and
telemedicine services or increase telework capabilities in response to COVID-19 public health
precautions. Generally describe the nature and extent of the project:
3. What will funds be used to purchase or construct:
4. Will this project be self-sustaining or will future funding be required from sources other than
local revenues. If so, describe plans to acquire those funds:
5. Upon completion of this project, provide metrics detailing the efficacy of the project, including
but not limited to:
a. Number of households and businesses benefitting from the project:
b. For projects addressing affordability only, number of remaining unconnected households
due to lack of ability to pay for service students, whether through lack of access to
broadband infrastructure or lack of ability to pay for service:
6. Please provide any other relevant project information:
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Coronavirus Relief Fund
Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments
Updated September 2, 2020 1
The purpose of this document is to provide guidance to recipients of the funding available under section
601(a) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security Act (“CARES Act”). The CARES Act established the Coronavirus Relief Fund (the “Fund”)
and appropriated $150 billion to the Fund. Under the CARES Act, the Fund is to be used to make
payments for specified uses to States and certain local governments; the District of Columbia and U.S.
Territories (consisting of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the United States Virgin Islands, Guam,
American Samoa, and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands); and Tribal governments.
The CARES Act provides that payments from the Fund may only be used to cover costs that—
1. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID–19);
2. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 (the
date of enactment of the CARES Act) for the State or government; and
3. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30,
2020. 2
The guidance that follows sets forth the Department of the Treasury’s interpretation of these limitations
on the permissible use of Fund payments.
Necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency
The requirement that expenditures be incurred “due to” the public health emergency means that
expenditures must be used for actions taken to respond to the public health emergency. These may
include expenditures incurred to allow the State, territorial, local, or Tribal government to respond
directly to the emergency, such as by addressing medical or public health needs, as well as expenditures
incurred to respond to second-order effects of the emergency, such as by providing economic support to
those suffering from employment or business interruptions due to COVID-19-related business closures.
Funds may not be used to fill shortfalls in government revenue to cover expenditures that would not
otherwise qualify under the statute. Although a broad range of uses is allowed, revenue replacement is
not a permissible use of Fund payments.
The statute also specifies that expenditures using Fund payments must be “necessary.” The Department
of the Treasury understands this term broadly to mean that the expenditure is reasonably necessary for its
intended use in the reasonable judgment of the government officials responsible for spending Fund
payments.

1

On June 30, 2020, the guidance provided under “Costs incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020,
and ends on December 30, 2020” was updated. On September 2, 2020, the “Supplemental Guidance on Use of
Funds to Cover Payroll and Benefits of Public Employees” and “Supplemental Guidance on Use of Funds to Cover
Administrative Costs” sections were added.
2
See Section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the CARES Act.
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Costs not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020
The CARES Act also requires that payments be used only to cover costs that were not accounted for in
the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020. A cost meets this requirement if either (a) the
cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or allocation within that budget or (b) the cost
is for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or
allocation.
The “most recently approved” budget refers to the enacted budget for the relevant fiscal period for the
particular government, without taking into account subsequent supplemental appropriations enacted or
other budgetary adjustments made by that government in response to the COVID-19 public health
emergency. A cost is not considered to have been accounted for in a budget merely because it could be
met using a budgetary stabilization fund, rainy day fund, or similar reserve account.
Costs incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 2020
Finally, the CARES Act provides that payments from the Fund may only be used to cover costs that were
incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 2020 (the “covered
period”). Putting this requirement together with the other provisions discussed above, section 601(d) may
be summarized as providing that a State, local, or tribal government may use payments from the Fund
only to cover previously unbudgeted costs of necessary expenditures incurred due to the COVID–19
public health emergency during the covered period.
Initial guidance released on April 22, 2020, provided that the cost of an expenditure is incurred when the
recipient has expended funds to cover the cost. Upon further consideration and informed by an
understanding of State, local, and tribal government practices, Treasury is clarifying that for a cost to be
considered to have been incurred, performance or delivery must occur during the covered period but
payment of funds need not be made during that time (though it is generally expected that this will take
place within 90 days of a cost being incurred). For instance, in the case of a lease of equipment or other
property, irrespective of when payment occurs, the cost of a lease payment shall be considered to have
been incurred for the period of the lease that is within the covered period but not otherwise. Furthermore,
in all cases it must be necessary that performance or delivery take place during the covered period. Thus
the cost of a good or service received during the covered period will not be considered eligible under
section 601(d) if there is no need for receipt until after the covered period has expired.
Goods delivered in the covered period need not be used during the covered period in all cases. For
example, the cost of a good that must be delivered in December in order to be available for use in January
could be covered using payments from the Fund. Additionally, the cost of goods purchased in bulk and
delivered during the covered period may be covered using payments from the Fund if a portion of the
goods is ordered for use in the covered period, the bulk purchase is consistent with the recipient’s usual
procurement policies and practices, and it is impractical to track and record when the items were used. A
recipient may use payments from the Fund to purchase a durable good that is to be used during the current
period and in subsequent periods if the acquisition in the covered period was necessary due to the public
health emergency.
Given that it is not always possible to estimate with precision when a good or service will be needed, the
touchstone in assessing the determination of need for a good or service during the covered period will be
reasonableness at the time delivery or performance was sought, e.g., the time of entry into a procurement
contract specifying a time for delivery. Similarly, in recognition of the likelihood of supply chain
disruptions and increased demand for certain goods and services during the COVID-19 public health
emergency, if a recipient enters into a contract requiring the delivery of goods or performance of services
by December 30, 2020, the failure of a vendor to complete delivery or services by December 30, 2020,
2

will not affect the ability of the recipient to use payments from the Fund to cover the cost of such goods
or services if the delay is due to circumstances beyond the recipient’s control.
This guidance applies in a like manner to costs of subrecipients. Thus, a grant or loan, for example,
provided by a recipient using payments from the Fund must be used by the subrecipient only to purchase
(or reimburse a purchase of) goods or services for which receipt both is needed within the covered period
and occurs within the covered period. The direct recipient of payments from the Fund is ultimately
responsible for compliance with this limitation on use of payments from the Fund.
Nonexclusive examples of eligible expenditures
Eligible expenditures include, but are not limited to, payment for:
1. Medical expenses such as:
•

COVID-19-related expenses of public hospitals, clinics, and similar facilities.

•

Expenses of establishing temporary public medical facilities and other measures to increase
COVID-19 treatment capacity, including related construction costs.

•

Costs of providing COVID-19 testing, including serological testing.

•

Emergency medical response expenses, including emergency medical transportation, related
to COVID-19.

•

Expenses for establishing and operating public telemedicine capabilities for COVID-19related treatment.

2. Public health expenses such as:
•

Expenses for communication and enforcement by State, territorial, local, and Tribal
governments of public health orders related to COVID-19.

•

Expenses for acquisition and distribution of medical and protective supplies, including
sanitizing products and personal protective equipment, for medical personnel, police officers,
social workers, child protection services, and child welfare officers, direct service providers
for older adults and individuals with disabilities in community settings, and other public
health or safety workers in connection with the COVID-19 public health emergency.

•

Expenses for disinfection of public areas and other facilities, e.g., nursing homes, in response
to the COVID-19 public health emergency.

•

Expenses for technical assistance to local authorities or other entities on mitigation of
COVID-19-related threats to public health and safety.

•

Expenses for public safety measures undertaken in response to COVID-19.

•

Expenses for quarantining individuals.

3. Payroll expenses for public safety, public health, health care, human services, and similar
employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID19 public health emergency.
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4. Expenses of actions to facilitate compliance with COVID-19-related public health measures, such
as:
•

Expenses for food delivery to residents, including, for example, senior citizens and other
vulnerable populations, to enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions.

•

Expenses to facilitate distance learning, including technological improvements, in connection
with school closings to enable compliance with COVID-19 precautions.

•

Expenses to improve telework capabilities for public employees to enable compliance with
COVID-19 public health precautions.

•

Expenses of providing paid sick and paid family and medical leave to public employees to
enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions.

•

COVID-19-related expenses of maintaining state prisons and county jails, including as relates
to sanitation and improvement of social distancing measures, to enable compliance with
COVID-19 public health precautions.

•

Expenses for care for homeless populations provided to mitigate COVID-19 effects and
enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions.

5. Expenses associated with the provision of economic support in connection with the COVID-19
public health emergency, such as:
•

Expenditures related to the provision of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of
business interruption caused by required closures.

•

Expenditures related to a State, territorial, local, or Tribal government payroll support
program.

•

Unemployment insurance costs related to the COVID-19 public health emergency if such
costs will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act or
otherwise.

6. Any other COVID-19-related expenses reasonably necessary to the function of government that
satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria.
Nonexclusive examples of ineligible expenditures3
The following is a list of examples of costs that would not be eligible expenditures of payments from the
Fund.
1. Expenses for the State share of Medicaid. 4
2. Damages covered by insurance.
3. Payroll or benefits expenses for employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated to
mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.
3

In addition, pursuant to section 5001(b) of the CARES Act, payments from the Fund may not be expended for an
elective abortion or on research in which a human embryo is destroyed, discarded, or knowingly subjected to risk of
injury or death. The prohibition on payment for abortions does not apply to an abortion if the pregnancy is the result
of an act of rape or incest; or in the case where a woman suffers from a physical disorder, physical injury, or
physical illness, including a life-endangering physical condition caused by or arising from the pregnancy itself, that
would, as certified by a physician, place the woman in danger of death unless an abortion is performed.
Furthermore, no government which receives payments from the Fund may discriminate against a health care entity
on the basis that the entity does not provide, pay for, provide coverage of, or refer for abortions.
4

See 42 C.F.R. § 433.51 and 45 C.F.R. § 75.306.
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4. Expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any federal program, such as the
reimbursement by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act of contributions by States
to State unemployment funds.
5. Reimbursement to donors for donated items or services.
6. Workforce bonuses other than hazard pay or overtime.
7. Severance pay.
8. Legal settlements.
Supplemental Guidance on Use of Funds to Cover Payroll and Benefits of Public Employees
As discussed in the Guidance above, the CARES Act provides that payments from the Fund must be used
only to cover costs that were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27,
2020. As reflected in the Guidance and FAQs, Treasury has not interpreted this provision to limit eligible
costs to those that are incremental increases above amounts previously budgeted. Rather, Treasury has
interpreted this provision to exclude items that were already covered for their original use (or a
substantially similar use). This guidance reflects the intent behind the Fund, which was not to provide
general fiscal assistance to state governments but rather to assist them with COVID-19-related necessary
expenditures. With respect to personnel expenses, though the Fund was not intended to be used to cover
government payroll expenses generally, the Fund was intended to provide assistance to address increased
expenses, such as the expense of hiring new personnel as needed to assist with the government’s response
to the public health emergency and to allow recipients facing budget pressures not to have to lay off or
furlough employees who would be needed to assist with that purpose.
Substantially different use
As stated in the Guidance above, Treasury considers the requirement that payments from the Fund be
used only to cover costs that were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27,
2020, to be met if either (a) the cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or allocation
within that budget or (b) the cost is for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in
such a line item, allotment, or allocation.
Treasury has provided examples as to what would constitute a substantially different use. Treasury
provided (in FAQ A.3) that costs incurred for a substantially different use would include, for example, the
costs of redeploying educational support staff or faculty to develop online learning capabilities, such as
through providing information technology support that is not part of the staff or faculty’s ordinary
responsibilities.
Substantially dedicated
Within this category of substantially different uses, as stated in the Guidance above, Treasury has
included payroll and benefits expenses for public safety, public health, health care, human services, and
similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID19 public health emergency. The full amount of payroll and benefits expenses of substantially dedicated
employees may be covered using payments from the Fund. Treasury has not developed a precise
definition of what “substantially dedicated” means given that there is not a precise way to define this term
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across different employment types. The relevant unit of government should maintain documentation of
the “substantially dedicated” conclusion with respect to its employees.
If an employee is not substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health
emergency, his or her payroll and benefits expenses may not be covered in full with payments from the
Fund. A portion of such expenses may be able to be covered, however, as discussed below.
Public health and public safety
In recognition of the particular importance of public health and public safety workers to State, local, and
tribal government responses to the public health emergency, Treasury has provided, as an administrative
accommodation, that a State, local, or tribal government may presume that public health and public safety
employees meet the substantially dedicated test, unless the chief executive (or equivalent) of the relevant
government determines that specific circumstances indicate otherwise. This means that, if this
presumption applies, work performed by such employees is considered to be a substantially different use
than accounted for in the most recently approved budget as of March 27, 2020. All costs of such
employees may be covered using payments from the Fund for services provided during the period that
begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 2020.
In response to questions regarding which employees are within the scope of this accommodation,
Treasury is supplementing this guidance to clarify that public safety employees would include police
officers (including state police officers), sheriffs and deputy sheriffs, firefighters, emergency medical
responders, correctional and detention officers, and those who directly support such employees such as
dispatchers and supervisory personnel. Public health employees would include employees involved in
providing medical and other health services to patients and supervisory personnel, including medical staff
assigned to schools, prisons, and other such institutions, and other support services essential for patient
care (e.g., laboratory technicians) as well as employees of public health departments directly engaged in
matters related to public health and related supervisory personnel.
Not substantially dedicated
As provided in FAQ A.47, a State, local, or tribal government may also track time spent by employees
related to COVID-19 and apply Fund payments on that basis but would need to do so consistently within
the relevant agency or department. This means, for example, that a government could cover payroll
expenses allocated on an hourly basis to employees’ time dedicated to mitigating or responding to the
COVID-19 public health emergency. This result provides equitable treatment to governments that, for
example, instead of having a few employees who are substantially dedicated to the public health
emergency, have many employees who have a minority of their time dedicated to the public health
emergency.
Covered benefits
Payroll and benefits of a substantially dedicated employee may be covered using payments from the Fund
to the extent incurred between March 1 and December 30, 2020.
Payroll includes certain hazard pay and overtime, but not workforce bonuses. As discussed in FAQ A.29,
hazard pay may be covered using payments from the Fund if it is provided for performing hazardous duty
or work involving physical hardship that in each case is related to COVID-19. This means that, whereas
payroll and benefits of an employee who is substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the
COVID-19 public health emergency may generally be covered in full using payments from the Fund,
hazard pay specifically may only be covered to the extent it is related to COVID-19. For example, a
recipient may use payments from the Fund to cover hazard pay for a police officer coming in close
6

contact with members of the public to enforce public health or public safety orders, but across-the-board
hazard pay for all members of a police department regardless of their duties would not be able to be
covered with payments from the Fund. This position reflects the statutory intent discussed above: the
Fund was intended to be used to help governments address the public health emergency both by providing
funds for incremental expenses (such as hazard pay related to COVID-19) and to allow governments not
to have to furlough or lay off employees needed to address the public health emergency but was not
intended to provide across-the-board budget support (as would be the case if hazard pay regardless of its
relation to COVID-19 or workforce bonuses were permitted to be covered using payments from the
Fund).
Relatedly, both hazard pay and overtime pay for employees that are not substantially dedicated may only
be covered using the Fund if the hazard pay and overtime pay is for COVID-19-related duties. As
discussed above, governments may allocate payroll and benefits of such employees with respect to time
worked on COVID-19-related matters.
Covered benefits include, but are not limited to, the costs of all types of leave (vacation, family-related,
sick, military, bereavement, sabbatical, jury duty), employee insurance (health, life, dental, vision),
retirement (pensions, 401(k)), unemployment benefit plans (federal and state), workers compensation
insurance, and Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) taxes (which includes Social Security and
Medicare taxes).
Supplemental Guidance on Use of Funds to Cover Administrative Costs
General
Payments from the Fund are not administered as part of a traditional grant program and the provisions of
the Uniform Guidance, 2 C.F.R. Part 200, that are applicable to indirect costs do not apply. Recipients
may not apply their indirect costs rates to payments received from the Fund.
Recipients may, if they meet the conditions specified in the guidance for tracking time consistently across
a department, use payments from the Fund to cover the portion of payroll and benefits of employees
corresponding to time spent on administrative work necessary due to the COVID-19 public health
emergency. (In other words, such costs would be eligible direct costs of the recipient). This includes, but
is not limited to, costs related to disbursing payments from the Fund and managing new grant programs
established using payments from the Fund.
As with any other costs to be covered using payments from the Fund, any such administrative costs must
be incurred by December 30, 2020, with an exception for certain compliance costs as discussed below.
Furthermore, as discussed in the Guidance above, as with any other cost, an administrative cost that has
been or will be reimbursed under any federal program may not be covered with the Fund. For example, if
an administrative cost is already being covered as a direct or indirect cost pursuant to another federal
grant, the Fund may not be used to cover that cost.
Compliance costs related to the Fund
As previously stated in FAQ B.11, recipients are permitted to use payments from the Fund to cover the
expenses of an audit conducted under the Single Audit Act, subject to the limitations set forth in 2 C.F.R.
§ 200.425. Pursuant to that provision of the Uniform Guidance, recipients and subrecipients subject to
the Single Audit Act may use payments from the Fund to cover a reasonably proportionate share of the
costs of audits attributable to the Fund.
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To the extent a cost is incurred by December 30, 2020, for an eligible use consistent with section 601 of
the Social Security Act and Treasury’s guidance, a necessary administrative compliance expense that
relates to such underlying cost may be incurred after December 30, 2020. Such an expense would
include, for example, expenses incurred to comply with the Single Audit Act and reporting and
recordkeeping requirements imposed by the Office of Inspector General. A recipient with such necessary
administrative expenses, such as an ongoing audit continuing past December 30, 2020, that relates to
Fund expenditures incurred during the covered period, must report to the Treasury Office of Inspector
General by the quarter ending September 2021 an estimate of the amount of such necessary
administrative expenses.
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Appendix B: Coronavirus Relief Fund – Frequently Asked Questions
September 2, 2020

Coronavirus Relief Fund
Frequently Asked Questions
Updated as of September 2, 2020 1
The following answers to frequently asked questions supplement Treasury’s Coronavirus Relief Fund
(“Fund”) Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments, dated April 22, 2020,
(“Guidance”). 2 Amounts paid from the Fund are subject to the restrictions outlined in the Guidance and
set forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”).
A. Eligible Expenditures
1. Are governments required to submit proposed expenditures to Treasury for approval?
No. Governments are responsible for making determinations as to what expenditures are necessary
due to the public health emergency with respect to COVID-19 and do not need to submit any
proposed expenditures to Treasury.
2. The Guidance says that funding can be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public
health, health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially
dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. How does a
government determine whether payroll expenses for a given employee satisfy the “substantially
dedicated” condition?
The Fund is designed to provide ready funding to address unforeseen financial needs and risks created
by the COVID-19 public health emergency. For this reason, and as a matter of administrative
convenience in light of the emergency nature of this program, a State, territorial, local, or Tribal
government may presume that payroll costs for public health and public safety employees are
payments for services substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public
health emergency, unless the chief executive (or equivalent) of the relevant government determines
that specific circumstances indicate otherwise.
3. The Guidance says that a cost was not accounted for in the most recently approved budget if the
cost is for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item,
allotment, or allocation. What would qualify as a “substantially different use” for purposes of the
Fund eligibility?
Costs incurred for a “substantially different use” include, but are not necessarily limited to, costs of
personnel and services that were budgeted for in the most recently approved budget but which, due
entirely to the COVID-19 public health emergency, have been diverted to substantially different
functions. This would include, for example, the costs of redeploying corrections facility staff to
enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions through work such as enhanced
sanitation or enforcing social distancing measures; the costs of redeploying police to support
management and enforcement of stay-at-home orders; or the costs of diverting educational support
staff or faculty to develop online learning capabilities, such as through providing information
technology support that is not part of the staff or faculty’s ordinary responsibilities.

1

On August 10, 2020, these Frequently Asked Questions were revised to add Questions A.49–52. On September 2,
2020, Questions A.53–56 were added, and Questions A.34 and A.38 were revised.

2

The Guidance is available at https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-forState-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf.
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Note that a public function does not become a “substantially different use” merely because it is
provided from a different location or through a different manner. For example, although developing
online instruction capabilities may be a substantially different use of funds, online instruction itself is
not a substantially different use of public funds than classroom instruction.
4. May a State receiving a payment transfer funds to a local government?
Yes, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary expenditure incurred due to the public health
emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. Such funds
would be subject to recoupment by the Treasury Department if they have not been used in a manner
consistent with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.
5. May a unit of local government receiving a Fund payment transfer funds to another unit of
government?
Yes. For example, a county may transfer funds to a city, town, or school district within the county
and a county or city may transfer funds to its State, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary
expenditure incurred due to the public health emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d)
of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. For example, a transfer from a county to a
constituent city would not be permissible if the funds were intended to be used simply to fill shortfalls
in government revenue to cover expenditures that would not otherwise qualify as an eligible
expenditure.
6. Is a Fund payment recipient required to transfer funds to a smaller, constituent unit of government
within its borders?
No. For example, a county recipient is not required to transfer funds to smaller cities within the
county’s borders.
7. Are recipients required to use other federal funds or seek reimbursement under other federal
programs before using Fund payments to satisfy eligible expenses?
No. Recipients may use Fund payments for any expenses eligible under section 601(d) of the Social
Security Act outlined in the Guidance. Fund payments are not required to be used as the source of
funding of last resort. However, as noted below, recipients may not use payments from the Fund to
cover expenditures for which they will receive reimbursement.
8. Are there prohibitions on combining a transaction supported with Fund payments with other
CARES Act funding or COVID-19 relief Federal funding?
Recipients will need to consider the applicable restrictions and limitations of such other sources of
funding. In addition, expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any federal program, such
as the reimbursement by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act of contributions by
States to State unemployment funds, are not eligible uses of Fund payments.
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9. Are States permitted to use Fund payments to support state unemployment insurance funds
generally?
To the extent that the costs incurred by a state unemployment insurance fund are incurred due to the
COVID-19 public health emergency, a State may use Fund payments to make payments to its
respective state unemployment insurance fund, separate and apart from such State’s obligation to the
unemployment insurance fund as an employer. This will permit States to use Fund payments to
prevent expenses related to the public health emergency from causing their state unemployment
insurance funds to become insolvent.
10. Are recipients permitted to use Fund payments to pay for unemployment insurance costs incurred
by the recipient as an employer?
Yes, Fund payments may be used for unemployment insurance costs incurred by the recipient as an
employer (for example, as a reimbursing employer) related to the COVID-19 public health
emergency if such costs will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES
Act or otherwise.
11. The Guidance states that the Fund may support a “broad range of uses” including payroll
expenses for several classes of employees whose services are “substantially dedicated to mitigating
or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.” What are some examples of types of
covered employees?
The Guidance provides examples of broad classes of employees whose payroll expenses would be
eligible expenses under the Fund. These classes of employees include public safety, public health,
health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to
mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. Payroll and benefit costs
associated with public employees who could have been furloughed or otherwise laid off but who were
instead repurposed to perform previously unbudgeted functions substantially dedicated to mitigating
or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency are also covered. Other eligible
expenditures include payroll and benefit costs of educational support staff or faculty responsible for
developing online learning capabilities necessary to continue educational instruction in response to
COVID-19-related school closures. Please see the Guidance for a discussion of what is meant by an
expense that was not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020.
12. In some cases, first responders and critical health care workers that contract COVID-19 are
eligible for workers’ compensation coverage. Is the cost of this expanded workers compensation
coverage eligible?
Increased workers compensation cost to the government due to the COVID-19 public health
emergency incurred during the period beginning March 1, 2020, and ending December 30, 2020, is an
eligible expense.
13. If a recipient would have decommissioned equipment or not renewed a lease on particular office
space or equipment but decides to continue to use the equipment or to renew the lease in order to
respond to the public health emergency, are the costs associated with continuing to operate the
equipment or the ongoing lease payments eligible expenses?
Yes. To the extent the expenses were previously unbudgeted and are otherwise consistent with
section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance, such expenses would be eligible.
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14. May recipients provide stipends to employees for eligible expenses (for example, a stipend to
employees to improve telework capabilities) rather than require employees to incur the eligible cost
and submit for reimbursement?
Expenditures paid for with payments from the Fund must be limited to those that are necessary due to
the public health emergency. As such, unless the government were to determine that providing
assistance in the form of a stipend is an administrative necessity, the government should provide such
assistance on a reimbursement basis to ensure as much as possible that funds are used to cover only
eligible expenses.
15. May Fund payments be used for COVID-19 public health emergency recovery planning?
Yes. Expenses associated with conducting a recovery planning project or operating a recovery
coordination office would be eligible, if the expenses otherwise meet the criteria set forth in section
601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.
16. Are expenses associated with contact tracing eligible?
Yes, expenses associated with contact tracing are eligible.
17. To what extent may a government use Fund payments to support the operations of private
hospitals?
Governments may use Fund payments to support public or private hospitals to the extent that the
costs are necessary expenditures incurred due to the COVID-19 public health emergency, but the
form such assistance would take may differ. In particular, financial assistance to private hospitals
could take the form of a grant or a short-term loan.
18. May payments from the Fund be used to assist individuals with enrolling in a government benefit
program for those who have been laid off due to COVID-19 and thereby lost health insurance?
Yes. To the extent that the relevant government official determines that these expenses are necessary
and they meet the other requirements set forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in
the Guidance, these expenses are eligible.
19. May recipients use Fund payments to facilitate livestock depopulation incurred by producers due to
supply chain disruptions?
Yes, to the extent these efforts are deemed necessary for public health reasons or as a form of
economic support as a result of the COVID-19 health emergency.
20. Would providing a consumer grant program to prevent eviction and assist in preventing
homelessness be considered an eligible expense?
Yes, assuming that the recipient considers the grants to be a necessary expense incurred due to the
COVID-19 public health emergency and the grants meet the other requirements for the use of Fund
payments under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. As a general
matter, providing assistance to recipients to enable them to meet property tax requirements would not
be an eligible use of funds, but exceptions may be made in the case of assistance designed to prevent
foreclosures.
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21. May recipients create a “payroll support program” for public employees?
Use of payments from the Fund to cover payroll or benefits expenses of public employees are limited
to those employees whose work duties are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the
COVID-19 public health emergency.
22. May recipients use Fund payments to cover employment and training programs for employees that
have been furloughed due to the public health emergency?
Yes, this would be an eligible expense if the government determined that the costs of such
employment and training programs would be necessary due to the public health emergency.
23. May recipients use Fund payments to provide emergency financial assistance to individuals and
families directly impacted by a loss of income due to the COVID-19 public health emergency?
Yes, if a government determines such assistance to be a necessary expenditure. Such assistance could
include, for example, a program to assist individuals with payment of overdue rent or mortgage
payments to avoid eviction or foreclosure or unforeseen financial costs for funerals and other
emergency individual needs. Such assistance should be structured in a manner to ensure as much as
possible, within the realm of what is administratively feasible, that such assistance is necessary.
24. The Guidance provides that eligible expenditures may include expenditures related to the provision
of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required
closures. What is meant by a “small business,” and is the Guidance intended to refer only to
expenditures to cover administrative expenses of such a grant program?
Governments have discretion to determine what payments are necessary. A program that is aimed at
assisting small businesses with the costs of business interruption caused by required closures should
be tailored to assist those businesses in need of such assistance. The amount of a grant to a small
business to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures would also be an
eligible expenditure under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as outlined in the Guidance.
25. The Guidance provides that expenses associated with the provision of economic support in
connection with the public health emergency, such as expenditures related to the provision of
grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required
closures, would constitute eligible expenditures of Fund payments. Would such expenditures be
eligible in the absence of a stay-at-home order?
Fund payments may be used for economic support in the absence of a stay-at-home order if such
expenditures are determined by the government to be necessary. This may include, for example, a
grant program to benefit small businesses that close voluntarily to promote social distancing measures
or that are affected by decreased customer demand as a result of the COVID-19 public health
emergency.
26. May Fund payments be used to assist impacted property owners with the payment of their property
taxes?
Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the provision of
assistance to meet tax obligations.
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27. May Fund payments be used to replace foregone utility fees? If not, can Fund payments be used
as a direct subsidy payment to all utility account holders?
Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the replacement of
unpaid utility fees. Fund payments may be used for subsidy payments to electricity account holders
to the extent that the subsidy payments are deemed by the recipient to be necessary expenditures
incurred due to the COVID-19 public health emergency and meet the other criteria of section 601(d)
of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. For example, if determined to be a necessary
expenditure, a government could provide grants to individuals facing economic hardship to allow
them to pay their utility fees and thereby continue to receive essential services.
28. Could Fund payments be used for capital improvement projects that broadly provide potential
economic development in a community?
In general, no. If capital improvement projects are not necessary expenditures incurred due to the
COVID-19 public health emergency, then Fund payments may not be used for such projects.
However, Fund payments may be used for the expenses of, for example, establishing temporary
public medical facilities and other measures to increase COVID-19 treatment capacity or improve
mitigation measures, including related construction costs.
29. The Guidance includes workforce bonuses as an example of ineligible expenses but provides that
hazard pay would be eligible if otherwise determined to be a necessary expense. Is there a specific
definition of “hazard pay”?
Hazard pay means additional pay for performing hazardous duty or work involving physical hardship,
in each case that is related to COVID-19.
30. The Guidance provides that ineligible expenditures include “[p]ayroll or benefits expenses for
employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the
COVID-19 public health emergency.” Is this intended to relate only to public employees?
Yes. This particular nonexclusive example of an ineligible expenditure relates to public employees.
A recipient would not be permitted to pay for payroll or benefit expenses of private employees and
any financial assistance (such as grants or short-term loans) to private employers are not subject to the
restriction that the private employers’ employees must be substantially dedicated to mitigating or
responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.
31. May counties pre-pay with CARES Act funds for expenses such as a one or two-year facility lease,
such as to house staff hired in response to COVID-19?
A government should not make prepayments on contracts using payments from the Fund to the extent
that doing so would not be consistent with its ordinary course policies and procedures.
32. Must a stay-at-home order or other public health mandate be in effect in order for a government to
provide assistance to small businesses using payments from the Fund?
No. The Guidance provides, as an example of an eligible use of payments from the Fund,
expenditures related to the provision of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business
interruption caused by required closures. Such assistance may be provided using amounts received
from the Fund in the absence of a requirement to close businesses if the relevant government
determines that such expenditures are necessary in response to the public health emergency.
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33. Should States receiving a payment transfer funds to local governments that did not receive
payments directly from Treasury?
Yes, provided that the transferred funds are used by the local government for eligible expenditures
under the statute. To facilitate prompt distribution of Title V funds, the CARES Act authorized
Treasury to make direct payments to local governments with populations in excess of 500,000, in
amounts equal to 45% of the local government’s per capita share of the statewide allocation. This
statutory structure was based on a recognition that it is more administratively feasible to rely on
States, rather than the federal government, to manage the transfer of funds to smaller local
governments. Consistent with the needs of all local governments for funding to address the public
health emergency, States should transfer funds to local governments with populations of 500,000 or
less, using as a benchmark the per capita allocation formula that governs payments to larger local
governments. This approach will ensure equitable treatment among local governments of all sizes.
For example, a State received the minimum $1.25 billion allocation and had one county with a
population over 500,000 that received $250 million directly. The State should distribute 45 percent of
the $1 billion it received, or $450 million, to local governments within the State with a population of
500,000 or less.
34. May a State impose restrictions on transfers of funds to local governments?
Yes, to the extent that the restrictions facilitate the State’s compliance with the requirements set forth
in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance and other applicable
requirements such as the Single Audit Act, discussed below. Other restrictions, such as restrictions
on reopening that do not directly concern the use of funds, are not permissible.
35. If a recipient must issue tax anticipation notes (TANs) to make up for tax due date deferrals or
revenue shortfalls, are the expenses associated with the issuance eligible uses of Fund payments?
If a government determines that the issuance of TANs is necessary due to the COVID-19 public
health emergency, the government may expend payments from the Fund on the interest expense
payable on TANs by the borrower and unbudgeted administrative and transactional costs, such as
necessary payments to advisors and underwriters, associated with the issuance of the TANs.
36. May recipients use Fund payments to expand rural broadband capacity to assist with distance
learning and telework?
Such expenditures would only be permissible if they are necessary for the public health emergency.
The cost of projects that would not be expected to increase capacity to a significant extent until the
need for distance learning and telework have passed due to this public health emergency would not be
necessary due to the public health emergency and thus would not be eligible uses of Fund payments.
37. Are costs associated with increased solid waste capacity an eligible use of payments from the
Fund?
Yes, costs to address increase in solid waste as a result of the public health emergency, such as relates
to the disposal of used personal protective equipment, would be an eligible expenditure.
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38. May payments from the Fund be used to cover across-the-board hazard pay for employees working
during a state of emergency?
No. Hazard pay means additional pay for performing hazardous duty or work involving physical
hardship, in each case that is related to COVID-19. Payments from the fund may only be used to
cover such hazard pay.
39. May Fund payments be used for expenditures related to the administration of Fund payments by a
State, territorial, local, or Tribal government?
Yes, if the administrative expenses represent an increase over previously budgeted amounts and are
limited to what is necessary. For example, a State may expend Fund payments on necessary
administrative expenses incurred with respect to a new grant program established to disburse amounts
received from the Fund.
40. May recipients use Fund payments to provide loans?
Yes, if the loans otherwise qualify as eligible expenditures under section 601(d) of the Social Security
Act as implemented by the Guidance. Any amounts repaid by the borrower before December 30,
2020, must be either returned to Treasury upon receipt by the unit of government providing the loan
or used for another expense that qualifies as an eligible expenditure under section 601(d) of the Social
Security Act. Any amounts not repaid by the borrower until after December 30, 2020, must be
returned to Treasury upon receipt by the unit of government lending the funds.
41. May Fund payments be used for expenditures necessary to prepare for a future COVID-19
outbreak?
Fund payments may be used only for expenditures necessary to address the current COVID-19 public
health emergency. For example, a State may spend Fund payments to create a reserve of personal
protective equipment or develop increased intensive care unit capacity to support regions in its
jurisdiction not yet affected, but likely to be impacted by the current COVID-19 pandemic.
42. May funds be used to satisfy non-federal matching requirements under the Stafford Act?
Yes, payments from the Fund may be used to meet the non-federal matching requirements for
Stafford Act assistance to the extent such matching requirements entail COVID-19-related costs that
otherwise satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria and the Stafford Act. Regardless of the use of Fund
payments for such purposes, FEMA funding is still dependent on FEMA’s determination of eligibility
under the Stafford Act.
43. Must a State, local, or tribal government require applications to be submitted by businesses or
individuals before providing assistance using payments from the Fund?
Governments have discretion to determine how to tailor assistance programs they establish in
response to the COVID-19 public health emergency. However, such a program should be structured
in such a manner as will ensure that such assistance is determined to be necessary in response to the
COVID-19 public health emergency and otherwise satisfies the requirements of the CARES Act and
other applicable law. For example, a per capita payment to residents of a particular jurisdiction
without an assessment of individual need would not be an appropriate use of payments from the Fund.
44. May Fund payments be provided to non-profits for distribution to individuals in need of financial
assistance, such as rent relief?
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Yes, non-profits may be used to distribute assistance. Regardless of how the assistance is structured,
the financial assistance provided would have to be related to COVID-19.
45. May recipients use Fund payments to remarket the recipient’s convention facilities and tourism
industry?
Yes, if the costs of such remarketing satisfy the requirements of the CARES Act. Expenses incurred
to publicize the resumption of activities and steps taken to ensure a safe experience may be needed
due to the public health emergency. Expenses related to developing a long-term plan to reposition a
recipient’s convention and tourism industry and infrastructure would not be incurred due to the public
health emergency and therefore may not be covered using payments from the Fund.
46. May a State provide assistance to farmers and meat processors to expand capacity, such to cover
overtime for USDA meat inspectors?
If a State determines that expanding meat processing capacity, including by paying overtime to
USDA meat inspectors, is a necessary expense incurred due to the public health emergency, such as if
increased capacity is necessary to allow farmers and processors to donate meat to food banks, then
such expenses are eligible expenses, provided that the expenses satisfy the other requirements set
forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.
47. The guidance provides that funding may be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public
health, health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially
dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. May Fund
payments be used to cover such an employee’s entire payroll cost or just the portion of time spent
on mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency?
As a matter of administrative convenience, the entire payroll cost of an employee whose time is
substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency is
eligible, provided that such payroll costs are incurred by December 30, 2020. An employer may also
track time spent by employees related to COVID-19 and apply Fund payments on that basis but
would need to do so consistently within the relevant agency or department.
48. May Fund payments be used to cover increased administrative leave costs of public employees who
could not telework in the event of a stay at home order or a case of COVID-19 in the workplace?
The statute requires that payments be used only to cover costs that were not accounted for in the
budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020. As stated in the Guidance, a cost meets this
requirement if either (a) the cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or allocation
within that budget or (b) the cost is for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in
such a line item, allotment, or allocation. If the cost of an employee was allocated to administrative
leave to a greater extent than was expected, the cost of such administrative leave may be covered
using payments from the Fund.
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49. Are States permitted to use Coronavirus Relief Fund payments to satisfy non-federal matching
requirements under the Stafford Act, including “lost wages assistance” authorized by the
Presidential Memorandum on Authorizing the Other Needs Assistance Program for Major
Disaster Declarations Related to Coronavirus Disease 2019 (August 8, 2020)?
Yes. As previous guidance has stated, payments from the Fund may be used to meet the non-federal
matching requirements for Stafford Act assistance to the extent such matching requirements entail
COVID-19-related costs that otherwise satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria and the Stafford Act.
States are fully permitted to use payments from the Fund to satisfy 100% of their cost share for lost
wages assistance recently made available under the Stafford Act.
50. At what point would costs be considered to be incurred in the case of a grant made by a State, local,
or tribal government to cover interest and principal amounts of a loan, such as might be provided
as part of a small business assistance program in which the loan is made by a private institution?
A grant made to cover interest and principal costs of a loan, including interest and principal due after
the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 2020 (the “covered period”), will
be considered to be incurred during the covered period if (i) the full amount of the loan is advanced to
the borrower within the covered period and (ii) the proceeds of the loan are used by the borrower to
cover expenses incurred during the covered period. In addition, if these conditions are met, the
amount of the grant will be considered to have been used during the covered period for purposes of
the requirement that expenses be incurred within the covered period. Such a grant would be
analogous to a loan provided by the Fund recipient itself that incorporates similar loan forgiveness
provisions. As with any other assistance provided by a Fund recipient, such a grant would need to be
determined by the recipient to be necessary due to the public health emergency.
51. If governments use Fund payments as described in the Guidance to establish a grant program to
support businesses, would those funds be considered gross income taxable to a business receiving
the grant under the Internal Revenue Code (Code)?
Please see the answer provided by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) available at
https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/cares-act-coronavirus-relief-fund-frequently-asked-questions.
52. If governments use Fund payments as described in the Guidance to establish a loan program to
support businesses, would those funds be considered gross income taxable to a business receiving
the loan under the Code?
Please see the answer provided by the IRS available at https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/cares-actcoronavirus-relief-fund-frequently-asked-questions.
53. May Fund recipients incur expenses associated with the safe reopening of schools?
Yes, payments from the Fund may be used to cover costs associated with providing distance learning
(e.g., the cost of laptops to provide to students) or for in-person learning (e.g., the cost of acquiring
personal protective equipment for students attending schools in-person or other costs associated with
meeting Centers for Disease Control guidelines).
To this end, as an administrative convenience, Treasury will presume that expenses of up to $500 per
elementary and secondary school student to be eligible expenditures, such that schools do not need to
document the specific use of funds up to that amount.
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54. May Fund recipients upgrade critical public health infrastructure, such as providing access to
running water for individuals and families in rural and tribal areas to allow them to maintain
proper hygiene and defend themselves against the virus?
Yes, fund recipients may use payments from the Fund to upgrade public health infrastructure, such as
providing individuals and families access to running water to help reduce the further spread of the
virus. As required by the CARES Act, expenses associated with such upgrades must be incurred by
December 30, 2020. Please see Treasury’s Guidance as updated on June 30 regarding when a cost is
considered to be incurred for purposes of the requirement that expenses be incurred within the
covered period.
55. How does a government address the requirement that the allowable expenditures are not accounted
for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020, once the government enters its new
budget year on July 1, 2020 (for governments with June 30 fiscal year ends) or October 1, 2020
(for governments with September 30 year ends)?
As provided in the Guidance, the “most recently approved” budget refers to the enacted budget for the
relevant fiscal period for the particular government, without taking into account subsequent
supplemental appropriations enacted or other budgetary adjustments made by that government in
response to the COVID-19 public health emergency. A cost is not considered to have been accounted
for in a budget merely because it could be met using a budgetary stabilization fund, rainy day fund, or
similar reserve account.
Furthermore, the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020, provides the spending baseline
against which expenditures should be compared for purposes of determining whether they may be
covered using payments from the Fund. This spending baseline will carry forward to a subsequent
budget year if a Fund recipient enters a different budget year between March 27, 2020 and December
30, 2020. The spending baseline may be carried forward without adjustment for inflation.
56. Does the National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq, (NEPA) apply to projects
supported by payments from the Fund?
NEPA does not apply to Treasury’s administration of the Fund. Projects supported with payments
from the Fund may still be subject to NEPA review if they are also funded by other federal financial
assistance programs.
B. Questions Related to Administration of Fund Payments
1. Do governments have to return unspent funds to Treasury?
Yes. Section 601(f)(2) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001(a) of the CARES Act,
provides for recoupment by the Department of the Treasury of amounts received from the Fund that
have not been used in a manner consistent with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. If a
government has not used funds it has received to cover costs that were incurred by December 30,
2020, as required by the statute, those funds must be returned to the Department of the Treasury.

11

2. What records must be kept by governments receiving payment?
A government should keep records sufficient to demonstrate that the amount of Fund payments to the
government has been used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.
3. May recipients deposit Fund payments into interest bearing accounts?
Yes, provided that if recipients separately invest amounts received from the Fund, they must use the
interest earned or other proceeds of these investments only to cover expenditures incurred in
accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act and the Guidance on eligible expenses. If a
government deposits Fund payments in a government’s general account, it may use those funds to
meet immediate cash management needs provided that the full amount of the payment is used to
cover necessary expenditures. Fund payments are not subject to the Cash Management Improvement
Act of 1990, as amended.
4. May governments retain assets purchased with payments from the Fund?
Yes, if the purchase of the asset was consistent with the limitations on the eligible use of funds
provided by section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.
5. What rules apply to the proceeds of disposition or sale of assets acquired using payments from the
Fund?
If such assets are disposed of prior to December 30, 2020, the proceeds would be subject to the
restrictions on the eligible use of payments from the Fund provided by section 601(d) of the Social
Security Act.
6. Are Fund payments to State, territorial, local, and tribal governments considered grants?
No. Fund payments made by Treasury to State, territorial, local, and Tribal governments are not
considered to be grants but are “other financial assistance” under 2 C.F.R. § 200.40.
7. Are Fund payments considered federal financial assistance for purposes of the Single Audit Act?
Yes, Fund payments are considered to be federal financial assistance subject to the Single Audit Act
(31 U.S.C. §§ 7501-7507) and the related provisions of the Uniform Guidance, 2 C.F.R. § 200.303
regarding internal controls, §§ 200.330 through 200.332 regarding subrecipient monitoring and
management, and subpart F regarding audit requirements.
8. Are Fund payments subject to other requirements of the Uniform Guidance?
Fund payments are subject to the following requirements in the Uniform Guidance (2 C.F.R. Part
200): 2 C.F.R. § 200.303 regarding internal controls, 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.330 through 200.332 regarding
subrecipient monitoring and management, and subpart F regarding audit requirements.
9. Is there a Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number assigned to the Fund?
Yes. The CFDA number assigned to the Fund is 21.019.
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10. If a State transfers Fund payments to its political subdivisions, would the transferred funds count
toward the subrecipients’ total funding received from the federal government for purposes of the
Single Audit Act?
Yes. The Fund payments to subrecipients would count toward the threshold of the Single Audit Act
and 2 C.F.R. part 200, subpart F re: audit requirements. Subrecipients are subject to a single audit or
program-specific audit pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.501(a) when the subrecipients spend $750,000 or
more in federal awards during their fiscal year.
11. Are recipients permitted to use payments from the Fund to cover the expenses of an audit
conducted under the Single Audit Act?
Yes, such expenses would be eligible expenditures, subject to the limitations set forth in 2 C.F.R. §
200.425.
12. If a government has transferred funds to another entity, from which entity would the Treasury
Department seek to recoup the funds if they have not been used in a manner consistent with
section 601(d) of the Social Security Act?
The Treasury Department would seek to recoup the funds from the government that received the
payment directly from the Treasury Department. State, territorial, local, and Tribal governments
receiving funds from Treasury should ensure that funds transferred to other entities, whether pursuant
to a grant program or otherwise, are used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act
as implemented in the Guidance.
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Appendix C
Certification Form
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CERTIFICATION for RECEIPT of
CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND PAYMENTS
by
ENTER LOCALITY NAME
We the undersigned represent ENTER LOCALITY NAME
(the locality), and we certify that:
1. we have the authority to request direct payment on behalf of the locality from the
Commonwealth of Virginia of revenues from the Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF) pursuant to
section 601(b) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief, and Economic Security Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136, div. A, Title V (Mar. 27, 2020).
2. we understand that the Commonwealth of Virginia will rely on this certification as a material
representation in making a direct payment to the locality.
3. the locality 's proposed uses of the funds received as direct payment from the Commonwealth
of Virginia under section 601(b) of the Social Security Act will be used only to cover those
costs that:
a. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect
to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19);
b. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020,
for the locality; and
c. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December
30, 2020.
4. any funds that are not expended or that will not be expended on necessary expenditures on or
before December 30, 2020, by the locality or its grantee(s), must be returned to
Commonwealth of Virginia no later than December 30, 2020, and that the Commonwealth of
Virginia is entitled to invoke state aid intercept to recover any such unexpended funds that
have not been returned to the Commonwealth within 30 days of December 30, 2020.
5. we understand that the locality will not receive continued funding beyond December 30,
2020, from any source to continue paying expenses or providing services that were initiated
or previously supported from CRF funds prior to December 30, 2020.
6. funds received as a direct payment from the Commonwealth of Virginia pursuant to this
certification must adhere to official federal guidance issued or to be issued regarding what
constitutes a necessary expenditure.
7. any CRF funds expended by the locality or its grantee(s) in any manner that does not adhere
to official federal guidance shall be returned to the Commonwealth of Virginia within 30
days of a finding that the expenditure is disallowed, and that the Commonwealth of Virginia
is entitled to invoke state aid intercept to recover any and all such funds that are not repaid
within 30 days of a finding that the expenditure is disallowed.
8. as a condition of receiving the CRF funds pursuant to this certification, the locality shall
retain documentation of all uses of the funds, including but not limited to payroll time
records, invoices, and/or sales receipts. Such documentation shall be produced to the
Commonwealth of Virginia upon request.
9. the locality must maintain proper accounting records to segregate these expenditures from
those supported by other fund sources and that all such records will be subject to audit.

10. any funds provided pursuant to this certification cannot be used as a revenue replacement for
lower than expected revenue collections from taxes, fees, or any other revenue source.
11. any CRF funds received pursuant to this certification will not be used for expenditures for
which the locality has received funds from any other emergency COVID-19 supplemental
funding (whether state, federal, or private in nature) for that same expense nor may CRF
funds be used for purposes of matching other federal funds unless specifically authorized by
federal statute, regulation, or guideline.
For counties only
12. an equitable share of CRF funds received pursuant to this certification shall be shared with
and granted to each town within its jurisdiction. Such grant(s) shall be used solely for
necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to the
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19), that were not accounted for in the budget most
recently approved as of March 27, 2020, and that were incurred during the period that begins
on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 2020. The county issuing the grant is
responsible for the ensuring compliance with the documentation requirements required by
this certification and shall ensure that the use of the funds meets the requirements set forth in
this certification.
We certify that we have read the above certification and our statements contained herein are true
and correct to the best of our knowledge.

By:
Enter Local Official Name

By:
Enter Local Official Name

By:
Enter Local Official Name

Signature:

Signature:

Signature:

Title:

Title:

Title:

Enter Local Official Title

Enter Local Official Title

Enter Local Official Title

Date:

Date:

Date:
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Appendix 6 – Mapping of Existing Fiber Assets

Blueprint to Broadband Internet

Appendix 7 – Board Action Documents

Boards-Commissions and Committees
Committee Name: Broadband Advisory Committee
Purpose: To provide the Board and Administration with advice developed by working with private sector
providers and support agencies to determine how broadband service can be best provided to Hanover
residents
Scope: The Committee will analyze the existing Federal Communications Commission Fixed Broadband
Deployment Mapping and the Center for Innovative Technology Virginia Broadband Availability Map,
and work with service providers and attempt to identify inaccuracies and/or recommend a method to
obtain the necessary information to correct the inaccuracies. The Committee will work to determine
what infrastructure currently exists and how it can be leveraged to expand and improve service and
develop practical solutions for serving the unserved and underserved areas of the County and prioritize
these solutions. The Committee shall prepare a final report and present the recommendations to the
Board
Type: Citizen-Board
Membership and Structure: 2 Board members, 6 appointed representatives possessing applicable
expertise in the fields of Information Technology, wired internet service provision, wireless internet
service provision, GIS mapping, broadband infrastructure and tools available to support the project.
Terms of Service: Committee shall sunset no later than December 31, 2020
Meeting Schedule: The goal is for Board appointments to occur by December 11, 2019 with the kick-off
meeting scheduled prior to January 31, 2020 (Dependent upon Committee Members availability). The
meeting schedule and number of meetings will be established by the Committee. The final report will be
made to Board in December 2020.

Agenda Item

County of Hanover
Board Meeting: October 9, 2019
Subject:

Creation of Broadband Advisory Committee

Summary of
Agenda Item:

During the August 28, 2019 Board of Supervisors meeting Mr. Stanley made a motion,
seconded by Mr. Davis, that staff develop a recommendation regarding the formation of a
Broadband Advisory Committee to include Committee scope and composition. Staff was
directed to report back to the board during the October 9, 2019 meeting.
Staff reviewed the information about Advisory Committees submitted during Citizens Time
and available from the State, and discussed the matter with other localities. The general
consensus was that the Committee members should have expertise in the appropriate fields to
compliment the scope of the Committee and that the scope should address the technical needs
of the locality. Hanover is somewhat unusual with its diversity; relatively large portions of
the County have broadband service, albeit of differing levels of quality, as well as large rural
areas without access to service. And, the rural areas have their differences – some may have a
wired solution for broadband service whereas others may need to rely on a wireless solution
given the distance to wired infrastructure.
With that as background, staff recommends the Committee scope generally be as follows:
• Analyze the existing Federal Communications Commission Fixed Broadband
Deployment Mapping and the Center for Innovative Technology Virginia Broadband
Availability Map and work with service providers and attempt to identify inaccuracies
and/or recommend a method to obtain the necessary information to correct the
inaccuracies
• Determine what infrastructure currently exists and how it can be leveraged to expand
and improve service.
• Develop practical solutions for serving the unserved and underserved areas of the
County and prioritize these solutions.
• Prepare final report and make presentation to the Board of Supervisors
To accomplish this staff recommends the Committee be comprised of 2 Board members and 5
appointed representatives possessing applicable expertise in the fields of Information
Technology, wired internet service provision, wireless internet service provision, GIS
mapping, broadband infrastructure and tools available to support the project.

County
Administrator’s
Recommended
Board Motion:

Motion to establish the Broadband Advisory Committee and solicit applications from
interested residents

IV.-C.
Agenda Item

County of Hanover
Board Meeting: December 11, 2019
Subject:

Request for Appointment of Citizens to the Broadband Advisory Committee

Summary of
Agenda Item:

The Board of Supervisors established that the Broadband Advisory Committee would
be comprised of two Board members and five appointed representatives possessing
applicable expertise in the fields of Information Technology, wired internet service
provision, wireless internet service provision, GIS mapping, broadband infrastructure
and tools available to support the project. Due to a technical issue when the
application window opened, which was discovered after the initial applicants were
identified, a qualified candidate’s credentials were not reviewed. This candidate was
also an early advocate for creating the Committee. It is therefore recommended that
the Committee be expanded to include six appointed representatives.
After review of the applications received from citizens, Mr. Davis and Ms. Dibble
determined that the citizens listed below possess the expertise identified by the Board
and therefore recommend they be appointed to the committee. As a secondary benefit,
the four areas of the County with the most unserved residents are also represented by
the recommended appointees.
•
•
•
•
•
•

Kristie Proctor (Cold Harbor Magisterial District)
Kirk Baumbach (Beaverdam Magisterial District)
Casey Bohn (South Anna Magisterial District)
George Condyles (Henry Magisterial District)
Scott Brown (Ashland Magisterial District, Business; Chickahominy
Magisterial District, Residence)
Andy Schaeffer (Beaverdam Magisterial District)

Qualification information is attached.

County
Administrator’s
Recommended
Board Motion:

Motion expand the Broadband Advisory Committee to six appointed representatives
and to appoint Kristie Proctor, Kirk Baumbach, Casey Bohn, George Condyles, Scott
Brown and Andy Schaeffer to the Committee.

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Firestone, Janice E.
Harksen, Frank W.
FW: Online Form Submittal: Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board, Commission or
Committee
Wednesday, November 20, 2019 3:12:08 PM

It just came in…
From: County Web Information <ctyadm@co.hanover.va.us>
Sent: Wednesday, November 20, 2019 3:11 PM
To: Firestone, Janice E. <jefirestone@hanovercounty.gov>
Subject: FW: Online Form Submittal: Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County
Board, Commission or Committee

Diane K. Chenault
County Administrator’s Office
PO Box 470
Hanover, VA 23069
dchenault@hanovercounty.gov
804-365-6004

Hanover: People, Tradition & Spirit
From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>
Sent: Wednesday, November 20, 2019 2:26 PM
To: County Web Information <ctyadm@co.hanover.va.us>
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board,
Commission or Committee

Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board,
Commission or Committee
Welcome
Thank you for your interest in serving on a Hanover County board, commission or
committee. Please complete the following information and submit this form or you
may print the form and mail it to: County Administrator’s Office, Attn: Janice
Firestone, P.O. Box 470, Hanover, VA 23069. Your information will be reviewed
by your Board representative and you will be contacted if you are selected for
appointment to a role. There is an expectation that appointees attend at least
75% of the meetings. Appointments are for a specified term and certain positions
have term limits.

Name

Kirk Baumbach

Email Address

kirk.baumbach@gmail.com

Address

17657 Level Drive

City

Doswell

State

VA

Zip Code

23047

Phone Number

8045720414

Magisterial District

Beaverdam

Interested in:

Broadband Committee

Educational background,
experience, interests or
skills (optional):

MBA, CIO for Randolph-Macon College, internet for Doswell, VA,
wifi provider for 2,500 people in Ashland, VA

Email not displaying correctly? View it in your browser.

Contact
17657 Level Dr
Doswell, Virginia 23047
kirk.baumbach@gmail.com

www.linkedin.com/in/kirkbaumbach
(LinkedIn)
www.rmc.edu (Company)

Top Skills
Systems Analysis
Strategic Planning
Project Management

Languages
English

Kirk Baumbach

CIO - Information & Technology Services at Randolph-Macon
College
Richmond, Virginia Area

Summary
IT leader with an interest in realizing value from IT investments.
Always seeking new technology and best practices to enhance IT
innovation in higher education business operations. Developing
teams and individuals to achieve their goals. Summary of
professional goals: serve others, enable people, and deliver results.
Specialties: Strategic Planning, IT Service Managment, IT
Governance, Application Development, Business Process
Management, Systems Analysis, and Project Management.

Experience
Randolph-Macon College
CIO - Information & Technology Services
March 2013 - Present
Ashland, Virginia

• Provide management, leadership, budget oversight, and strategic planning
for the Information & Technology Services department.
• Created an Information Technology Strategic Plan and recommended
Business Technology Roadmap linked to customer and college business
needs.
• Designed and implemented a Student Technology Advisory Committee to
gather valuable input for decision making and evaluating current and new
campus technologies.
• Responsible for scheduling and completing the implementation of 64% of
the technology related recommendations included in a campus-wide student
recruitment and retention assessment/study.
• Provided criteria responses, write-ups, and required documentation as a
member of the SACS re-accreditation team.
• Developed and currently executing a campus-wide strategy to adopt and use
cloud based services where practical and cost effective.
• Completed a Network Modernization project that included the redesign and
replacement of entire network infrastructure, wired and wireless.
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• Implemented single-sign on strategy technology that eliminated the need for
multiple user ids and to access major business applications.
• Implemented systematic security improvements, starting with basics like
password policies, designing new information security program policies, and
incident response procedures, and then scaling to continuous penetration
testing with training for students and employees.
• Project manager for the design of a new intranet including the migration of
over 60,000 pages from the external site to the new intranet.
• Created a new Service Desk (help desk) organization with after hours and
on-call support for constituents.
• Enhanced mobility offerings and work from anywhere tools for the College
workforce. Added remote access gateways for email, SharePoint, and major
business applications.

County of Hanover, Virginia
IT Director

September 2008 - March 2013 (4 years 7 months)
• Provide management, leadership, and strategic planning for the Information
Technology Department (34 employees, $4M+ annual budget).
• Develop and manage annual Information Technology budgets.
• Spearheaded effort to formulate a county-wide technology strategic plan.
• Utilizing project and service level management facilitation techniques to align
IT plans with customer department’s business goals and objectives.
• Created a business strategy for optimizing the County’s IT Services for:
Networks, Storage, Security, Desktops, Servers, Applications, GIS and
Content Management.

City of Richmond
IT Manager - Application Solutions

August 1994 - September 2008 (14 years 2 months)
• Created and organized Information Technology team assigned to implement
the Mayor’s RichmondWorks performance management system. Worked
with the Mayor and Chief Administrative Offices to plan and implement the
program, websites, document management, and executive dashboard.
• Provide management, leadership, and strategic planning for the Department
of Information Technology’s Application Solutions Division (44 employees,
$4M+ annual budget).
• Co-developed and managed annual Information Technology budgets for
Fiscal Years 2002-2008.
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• Spearheaded effort to formulate three city-wide strategic business technology
plans covering years 2001 through 2010. Utilized project management
facilitation techniques to gather input and develop an enterprise strategic
technology plan aligned with citywide business objectives.

Computing Options Company
System Designer

January 1980 - July 2005 (25 years 7 months)
Software designer and entrepreneur responsible for the development of and
support of a database driven application menu software used at over 50
Colleges and Universities.

Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University
Systems Analyst
1987 - 1993 (6 years)

Systems Analyst responsible for Financial Aid and Flight Training
Administrative Systems.

Education
Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University
MBAA, Aviation Industry

Longwood University
BS, Business Administration with Marketing Concentration
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

County Web Information
Firestone, Janice E.
FW: Online Form Submittal: Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board, Commission or
Committee
Monday, November 25, 2019 9:35:26 AM

Diane K. Chenault
County Administrator’s Office
PO Box 470
Hanover, VA 23069
dchenault@hanovercounty.gov
804-365-6004

Hanover: People, Tradition & Spirit
From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>
Sent: Saturday, November 23, 2019 6:56 AM
To: County Web Information <ctyadm@co.hanover.va.us>
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board,
Commission or Committee

Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board,
Commission or Committee
Welcome
Thank you for your interest in serving on a Hanover County board, commission or
committee. Please complete the following information and submit this form or you
may print the form and mail it to: County Administrator’s Office, Attn: Janice
Firestone, P.O. Box 470, Hanover, VA 23069. Your information will be reviewed
by your Board representative and you will be contacted if you are selected for
appointment to a role. There is an expectation that appointees attend at least
75% of the meetings. Appointments are for a specified term and certain positions
have term limits.

Name

Casey Bohn

Email Address

casey.bohn@gmail.com

Address

19398 Sterling Creek Ln

City

Rockville

State

VA

Zip Code

23146

Phone Number

8042124105

Magisterial District

South Anna

Interested in:

Broadband Advisory Committee

Educational background,
experience, interests or
skills (optional):

I have worked in the Wireless Industry for over 20 years. I have
extensive experience in managing the deployment of tower sites,
small cell facilities, distributed antenna systems, and fiber. I’ve
worked for my current employer Network Building And Consulting
for 15 years. I’ve been in a Managing Director role and member
of the executive board for five years. A brief bio can be found on
my company website leadership page at the following link.
https://www.networkbuilding.com/our-company/leadership/

Email not displaying correctly? View it in your browser.

11/27/2019

Leadership : Network Building + Consulting, LLC

OUR

OUR PROJECTHUMAN Search...

COMPANYWORKTYPES

CAPITAL

LEADERSHIP
We’re totally committed to
ﬁnding the best solution
for your business.

CASEY BOHN
DIRECTOR, SITE DEVELOPMENT, SOUTH REGION

Casey Bohn serves as Director of Site Development for the South region, based in Richmond, Virginia
for all daily operational and sales activities, including business development and oversight of client a
relationships for the entire region.
Casey began with NB+C in 2005 as a Construction Manager and has held many roles of increasing re
the organization. He has been a member of the Executive Board since 2014 and is involved with com
highest level.
An electrician by trade, Casey began his career in wireless over 20 years ago, working with a telecom
THOMAS KANE
CONLON MCCARTHY
contractor in Virginia.
PRESIDENT

Tom Kane has served as
president of NB+C since
2003. Under his leadership,
https://www.networkbuilding.com/our-company/leadership/

VICE PRESIDENT, SITE
DEVELOPMENT

Conlon McCarthy serves as
Vice President of Site
Development for NB+C He is

1/8

Contact
www.linkedin.com/in/casey-bohnb8226353 (LinkedIn)

Top Skills
Project Planning
Wireless Site Development
Wireless

Casey Bohn

Director, Southeast Region at Network Building + Consulting
Richmond, Virginia Area

Experience
Network Building + Consulting
Director, Southeast Region
November 2016 - Present
Glen Allen, Virginia

Network Building + Consulting
14 years

Associate Director

August 2014 - Present

Program Manager

2005 - August 2014 (9 years)

Design Telecommunications
Project Manager
1997 - 2005 (8 years)
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Firestone, Janice E.
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

County Web Information
Tuesday, November 12, 2019 4:42 PM
Firestone, Janice E.
FW: Online Form Submittal: Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County
Board, Commission or Committee

Diane K. Chenault
County Administrator’s Office
PO Box 470
Hanover, VA 23069
dchenault@hanovercounty.gov
804-365-6004

Hanover: People, Tradition & Spirit
From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>
Sent: Tuesday, November 12, 2019 3:50 PM
To: County Web Information <ctyadm@co.hanover.va.us>
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board, Commission or
Committee

Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board,
Commission or Committee
Welcome
Thank you for your interest in serving on a Hanover County board, commission or
committee. Please complete the following information and submit this form or you
may print the form and mail it to: County Administrator’s Office, Attn: Janice
Firestone, P.O. Box 470, Hanover, VA 23069. Your information will be reviewed by
your Board representative and you will be contacted if you are selected for
appointment to a role. There is an expectation that appointees attend at least 75%
of the meetings. Appointments are for a specified term and certain positions have
term limits.

Name

Scott K. Brown

Email Address

Scott@pixelfactorydc.com

Address

9680 Atlee Commons Dr. Suite 102

City

Ashland

State

VA

1

Zip Code

23004

Phone Number

804-355-3608

Magisterial District

Ashland

Interested in:

Broadband Advisory Committee

Educational background,
experience, interests or
skills (optional):

We currently work with all carriers and dark fiber providers that
traverse the Richmond area. Most of them provide services in
our facility. We also work with several subsea cable providers
that land in VA Beach. Some of this industry knowledge my
provide additional value in making recommendations in the
Broadband Advisory Committee findings.

Email not displaying correctly? View it in your browser.

2

Contact
www.linkedin.com/in/scott-browna1798a3 (LinkedIn)
www.pxfactory.com/
pixel_management.htm (Other)
www.skbphoto.com (Other)

Scott Brown

President, Pixel Factory, Inc.
Richmond, Virginia Area

Experience
Pixel Factory, Inc.
President

January 2003 - Present
Our extensive experience with managing large volumes of images for in-house
marketing departments and universities has set us apart in the industry. We
can develop custom solutions, manage your image libraries and host your
entire catalog of images.

Scott K. Brown Photography, inc.
Owner
January 1992 - Present

Scott K. Brown Photography, Inc. is a Richmond based studio. Producing
images for clients ranging from Sports Illustrated and Golf Digest magazine
to corporate icons like Anheuser-Busch and Circuit City we have successfully
blended the latest in digital technology with the quality and richness of
traditional photography.

Education
Virginia Intermont
· (1986 - 1989)
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The Atlantic Group of Companies, Inc.
Wireless

Overview
Serving the Local, State and Federal government sector agencies with voice and data
communications solutions. Public Safety, Defense and Homeland Security projects that
require the integration of new and legacy systems for radio and network services.
Communications Site Survivability for natural and man-made disasters. Communications
Site Stealth and Cammoflage deployment. Radio Frequency analysis for application use.
Local Governement review of commerical tower applications for public comment.
Master Planning for Community Development of Commerical Tower locations for
Wireless Broadband. Master Planning for Broadband Network deployment
Website

http://www.atlanticgroup.us.com

Industry
Wireless

Company size
11-50 employees
2 on LinkedIn Includes members with current employer listed as The Atlantic Group of
Companies, Inc., including part-time roles.

Founded
1992

Specialties
Technology Consulting- Commuications, Tower Services, Tower/Water Tank Asset
Management, and Marine Radio Services

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

jefirestone@hanovercounty.gov
amstanley@hanovercounty.gov
Interest Sheet
Tuesday, October 8, 2019 9:36:17 AM

Good morning,
This is an interest sheet from someone who would like to be on the broadband committee.
Thanks.
Janice
From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>
Sent: Monday, October 7, 2019 6:54 AM
To: County Web Information <ctyadm@co.hanover.va.us>
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board,
Commission or Committee

Information Sheet for Appointment to a Hanover County Board,
Commission or Committee
Welcome
Thank you for your interest in serving on a Hanover County board, commission or
committee. Please complete the following information and submit this form or you
may print the form and mail it to: County Administrator’s Office, Attn: Janice
Firestone, P.O. Box 470, Hanover, VA 23069. Your information will be reviewed
by your Board representative and you will be contacted if you are selected for
appointment to a role. There is an expectation that appointees attend at least
75% of the meetings. Appointments are for a specified term and certain positions
have term limits.

Name

Andy Schaeffer

Email Address

andy.schaeffer@outlook.com

Address

17465 Parsons Rd

City

Bumpass

State

VA

Zip Code

23024

Phone Number

804 496-1089

Magisterial District

Beaverdam

Interested in:

Broadband Advisory Committee

Educational background,
experience, interests or
skills (optional):

30 years experience in Information Technology and working with
regional and national telecommunication providers. Microsoft
Certified Engineer with experience in local area and wide area
networking. Currently employed as I.T. Director for a law firm
with 10 locations across virginia.

Email not displaying correctly? View it in your browser.

Contact
www.linkedin.com/in/andyschaeffer-a419785b (LinkedIn)

Top Skills
IT Management
Active Directory
Project Management

Certifications
Microsoft Certified Systems Engineer
Microsoft Certified Systems
Administrator: Messaging
Microsoft Certified Systems
Administrator
CompTIA A+
CompTIA Server+

Honors-Awards
Honorary Mayor of Beaverdam

Andy Schaeffer

I.T. Director at Marks & Harrison P.C.
Richmond, Virginia Area

Summary
Accomplished IT Director with over two decades in the technical
fields. Substantive background in managing servers, networks,
quality assurance, and test automation for products in competitive
markets. Excel at creating tools/solutions and leading efforts to
improve testing capacity, increase efficiency, significantly simplify
processes, and contribute to enhancing product performance and
features. Leverage experience in a variety of tools with strong
business acumen focusing on the bottom line. Comprehensive
contract negotiation and administration managing large budgets and
multiple vendors. Exceptional client support and service skills. Strong
practical experience augmented by several technical certifications.
Implement new technology while maintaining core infrastructure.
Employ productive time management meeting deadlines and
delivering viable, scalable solutions.

Experience
Marks & Harrison
I.T. Director

December 2007 - Present
Created and manage IT department for this multi-location law firm based
in Richmond, VA. Configure and support computer networking system for
10 separate locations. Research, propose, and implement new technology
as needed while supporting core infrastructure. Report directly to Board of
Directors.
▪ Brought all support for IT department in-house. Hired and trained support
personnel for end user computer support; assisted in creating separate
support department for Case Management Support.
▪ Developed new contracts and vendors saving firm both time and monies.
▪ Managed and directed transformation from MPLS to Fiber ENS Wide Area
Network.
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▪ Researched, proposed, and implemented updated Case Management
software migration to integrate with industry-standard Microsoft Office Suite.
▪ Reduced costs by 20% while doubling bandwidth for entire network.
▪ Increased reporting abilities and staff productivity through installation of
updated software.
▪ Specialize in complex Data and Telephony technology services across
platforms.

Connected Approach Inc.
I.T. Consulting / Engineer / Owner

June 2005 - November 2007 (2 years 6 months)
Provided IT consulting support for multiple companies in various fields as
owner of this proprietary IT consulting business. Successfully designed,
configured, and implemented Microsoft Enterprise Technology Solutions and
provided support.
▪ Enabled large customer base to efficiently access Messaging, Storage, and
Networks.
▪ Specialized in providing technical services for small businesses.
▪ Marketed and built successful firm within two years resulting in eventual
buyout by a larger IT company.

SyCom Technologies
Systems Engineer / Consultant

August 1997 - June 2005 (7 years 11 months)
▪ Executed new Server/Client solutions to manage and maintain core business
applications and meet changing software needs.
▪ Supported network servers and design. Repaired desktops and servers.
▪ Provided end-user and software support and installation.

Dataline
I.T. Support

June 1995 - August 1997 (2 years 3 months)
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